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II..  IINNTTRROODDUUCCTTIIOONN  
Starting in the mid to late 1800s, streetcar systems were implemented across America. Real 
estate owners and developers sought to increase sales by connecting their newly-built homes to 
Central City employment and retail via streetcar transit. Mass marketing of the automobile 
deflected attention from – and investment in – these systems in the 1900s in all but a handful of 
cities, including Toronto, New Orleans, Philadelphia and San Francisco.  


In 2001, Portland opened a new Central City streetcar line, the first modern streetcar system built 
in America. Since that time, America appears to have collectively recalled the power of streetcar 
to support and compliment land use development, and five years later more than 80 American 
communities were planning for streetcar implementation. Portland is now seeking funding for 
the extension of its 4-mile streetcar line to a Portland Streetcar Loop encompassing both the west 
and east sides of its Central City.  


DEVELOPMENT ORIENTED TRANSIT 


The popularity of streetcar is attributed in part to its relative low cost and ease of construction in 
comparison with light rail. But perhaps even more so, streetcar’s success can be attributed to the 
notable increases in development that have accompanied implementation in the handful of cities 
that now have demonstrated post-streetcar development track records.  


Even more than with light rail, the economic development benefits of streetcar investment 
appears traceable to streetcar’s fine-grained scale and intimate relationship with the street 
environment. If light rail systems function as highways and arterials, streetcar systems function 
as the local streets. Interest in bringing streetcar to more cities – and the higher density 
development with which it is associated – is constrained only by funding availability.  


FTA SMALL STARTS FUNDING  


In 2005, the U.S. Congress created a Small Starts program to fund projects such as streetcar, bus 
rapid transit and smaller light rail systems. The program – authorized in the Federal Transit 
Administration – is similar to the existing New Starts program but targets smaller projects 
costing less than $250 million and receiving no more than $75 million in federal funds. The 
intent of Congress was to support fixed guideway projects that were lower in cost and to simplify 
the federal review process.  


FTA funding criteria has relied upon a cost-effectiveness rating based substantially on travel 
time savings. Transit System User Benefit (TSUB) is calculated by determining total benefit and 
dividing into the total cost of the project. This funding methodology does not recognize or 
reward the ability of transit investment to influence travel patterns by influencing the built 
environment, and in doing so, increase transit ridership.  


FTA has proposed that Small Starts projects be rated for funding with the same TSUB cost 
effectiveness measure. The interim rules require that a medium rating on TSUB be achieved for a 
project to be eligible for funding.  
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Enabling legislative also includes economic development and proposed rulemaking as a factor in 
considering projects for funding; the FTA lists “positive effect[s] on local economic 
development” as one of its three primary criteria. This report suggests a methodology which with 
to implement this intent.  


MEASURING ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT  


This report is intended as a discussion paper for evaluating the streetcar-economic development 
nexus more broadly across the U.S. It ultimately suggests five quantitative measures with which 
to evaluate streetcar projects seeking federal funding support.  


• The first part of this report addresses the relationship between transit and development – 
particularly high density development – and the evidence that exists for the streetcar-
development linkage as experienced to date in Portland, Oregon. This analysis also 
describes and quantifies five public benefits that high density development supports.  


• The second part of this report suggests how ‘economic development’ – operationalized as 
real estate investment – can be measured for proposed Small Starts projects both now and 
in the future. Three criteria are suggested for evaluating streetcar projects that encompass 
both the regulatory and market environment. These criteria encompass the basic 
preparation and research that cities can take to ensure that transit investment is leveraged 
to the greatest extent possible – to truly yield the public benefits including ridership gains 
and containment of suburban sprawl that higher density urban development offers.  


• Proposed measures include two metrics related to higher density development: global 
warming and trip reduction. High density development – which streetcar supports – has 
enormous and measurable impacts on these two key factors that are not currently 
considered in the FTA evaluation criteria. Calculations are offered on the amount of 
vehicle miles traveled (VMT) by residents that have chosen to live in the higher density 
environment supported by streetcar.  


For the economic development criteria portion of the report, details are provided on an 
illustrative basis for the Portland Streetcar Loop Project, which is now seeking funding. This 
project will extend tracks, stations and service from the west side of the Willamette River 
(including Portland’s historic downtown) across the existing Broadway Bridge to serve the 
eastern half of Portland’s expanding Central City urban environment. The expanded project will 
serve 18 new and 16 existing stations (and station pairs), bringing new service to the eastside and 
also essentially doubling service frequency for westside stations.   


Two appendices are provided with this report. Appendix A briefly profiles E. D. Hovee & 
Company, LLC as preparers of this document.  
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IIII..  SSTTRREEEETTCCAARR--DDEEVVEELLOOPPMMEENNTT  EEXXPPEERRIIEENNCCEE  
Portland’s westside streetcar line was committed in 1997, constructed in 2001, and extended 
three times by 2006. The now 10 years since initial funding was committed yields a track record 
of investment and development activity through which the impacts of this investment can be 
assessed. The observed relationship between Portland Streetcar investment and Portland’s built 
environment supports the conclusion that streetcar promotes adjacent development at urban 
densities.  


Portland’s streetcar experience has demonstrated the importance of looking beyond transit 
oriented development. Because of streetcar’s role as a development catalyst – not just at station 
area nodes but along an entire transit corridor – the more appropriate term may be development 
oriented transit. This chapter lists evidence gathered to date of this relationship.  


A second focus of this chapter is to outline the broader community benefits of higher density 
development. These benefits can be conceived of as both public and private return on investment 
(ROI), and accrue to a city or neighborhood to the extent that high density development occurs.   
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Figure 1. Westside Streetcar Alignment with Area of Development Impact 
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Source: 2005, Portland Streetcar Development Impacts, E. D. Hovee & Company, LLC.  
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A. STREETCAR PROMOTES HIGH DENSITY DEVELOPMENT 
1. Documented Results: In Portland, tax assessor records indicate that post-streetcar 


development clustered near the alignment and achieved higher densities as proximity to 
the alignment increased.  


2. Developer Confidence: Interviews with Portland developers and property owners reveal 
the development community’s confidence in the catalytic potential of streetcar 
investment. Developer confidence may be the first and foremost indicator of successful 
development oriented transit investment. 


3. Property Owner Participation in Streetcar Investment: Property owners expect that 
streetcar investment will increase in land value, as evidenced through the self-imposed 
taxing districts that have funded five phases of streetcar investment to date.  


1. Documented Results: A 2005 study of real estate development within streetcar-served 
neighborhoods tracked Portland’s development trends (pre- and post-streetcar) based on distance 
from the streetcar alignment.1 It found that after streetcar investment was secured, lots within 
one-block of streetcar captured 55% of all new development within neighborhoods through 
which streetcar passed.  


Figure 2.  Percent of New Development by Distance from Streetcar 
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Source:  E. D. Hovee & Company, LLC, Portland Streetcar Development Impacts, prepared for Portland 
Streetcar, Inc. November 2005. 
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Post-streetcar development was also much denser than development further from the streetcar 
line. Within one block of the streetcar line, post-streetcar development achieved 90% of the 
Floor Area Ratio (FAR) the zoning allowed.  


The ratio of development experienced to zoned capacity steadily decreased as distance from 
streetcar increased – to only 43% of FAR for development more than three blocks from streetcar 
– despite a consistent FAR limit across all neighborhoods considered of around 6.0.2  


The total estimated value of development along the westside alignment between 1997 – the year 
in which funding was secured – and January 2006 is more than $2.4 billion.  


Figure 3. Density of Development by Distance to Streetcar 
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Source:  E. D. Hovee & Company, LLC.  


While this convergence of streetcar investment and high density development does not assert 
causality – and statistical research methods such as regression/hedonic modeling have not yet 
been employed – it is increasingly clear that more than chance has influenced Portland’s 
development trends. This observation is based on the strength of the statistical evidence to date 
combined with what private developers and investors responsible for this change have to say. 


Along with streetcar, key factors in recent Portland development have included development 
agreements with major property owners and consolidated land ownership, both of which 
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accompanied the first wave of development activity along the alignment. In Portland today, it is 
hard to imagine that in 1994 – when the westside alignment was first adopted – zoning within 
key downtown neighborhoods was a mere 14 units per acre and a market assessment projected 
potential condo absorption at just 30 units per year.  


2. Developer Confidence: Over the past decade, the Portland Streetcar project has been 
recognized by the real estate and development community as a significant catalyst for 
redevelopment in Portland’s extended downtown core area. Tax assessor records illustrate the 
catalytic role that streetcar has played to stimulate higher density urban development over the 
last decade. But the #1 consideration is: what does streetcar mean for developers investing in 
redevelopment and new construction of residential, commercial and mixed use space? 


Interviews with property owners and developers along Portland’s existing westside line and 
planned eastside line consistently indicate that streetcar investment supports development 
through three primary factors: 


• Timing: Property owners and developers are willing to invest in an area earlier in the 
redevelopment trajectory because they recognize streetcar as a sign of public-private 
sector investment confidence. The investor is more comfortable putting debt and equity 
capital where others have already put their money. Even when private re-investment is in 
its early stages, streetcar investment facilitates developer comfort and confidence. 


• Scale: Increased density means increased investment, and brings greater numbers of 
households and jobs to a site. Developer and property owner interviews indicate that 
streetcar investment increases developer comfort with larger buildings and the associated 
risks (more units to absorb, higher construction costs).   


• Pricing: Developers indicate willingness to bring higher-end products to the market with 
the presence of streetcar. With an initial Central City alignment in place and 
redevelopment along the entire length now realized, developers have judged that 
streetcar’s convenience, cost savings and cachet translates into consumer willingness to 
pay higher rents and sales prices. Increasingly, transit convenience makes it more 
possible to forego an automobile, freeing discretional financial resources for a more 
urban lifestyle. These new market trends, in turn, draw yet higher density projects to 
market within a shorter time frame.  


Members of Portland’s development community repeatedly express their confidence in the 
ability of streetcar to change the built environment. This is evidenced both in Portland’s westside 
(Downtown, NW 23rd, Pearl and South Waterfront Districts) and eastside, for which the 
extension of the Streetcar Loop is planned.  


Developers and property owners near the eastside alignment of the planned Portland Streetcar 
Loop are incorporating streetcar into their plans for their own properties and for larger 
neighborhoods. Examples of property owners’ comments on the planned eastside alignment are 
reported below. 
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"From a development standpoint, streetcar is extremely important. I knew [streetcar 
was planned] when I bought the property years ago. Any 21st Century development 
comes down to transportation." 


"Streetcar is an enhancement to the building's success and vice versa. The developer 
isn't opposed to creating units without parking because of the presence of streetcar." 


"Streetcar is essential for the hotel and the development of the Convention Center 
district. The district has to grow for the health of the convention center and its future 
bookings, and streetcar is integral to that." 


3. Property Owner Participation in Streetcar Investment: Lastly, adjacent property 
owners to the planned eastside alignment have asserted their conviction that streetcar investment 
increases property value by shouldering $15 million of the cost of streetcar development. This 
parallels westside experience where property owners have funded $19.4 million of the streetcar 
investment to date.  


Figure 4. Westside Property Owner Contributions to Streetcar 


Phase 
Total 
Cost 


LID 
Total 


Percent 
LID Assessment Methodology 


Phase I & 2 $56.9 $9.6 17% Frontage + rate x total value, 2 zones, rates vary by land use 
Phase 3a $14.4 $3.0 21% Rate x total value with minimum 
Phase 3b $15.8 $2.0 13% Rate x total value x distance factor 
Phase 3c $13.4 $4.8 36% Rate x land area x distance factor 
 $100.5 $19.4 19%  


Note: Dollars in millions. 
Source: Portland Department of Transportation, E. D. Hovee & Company, LLC.  


Local property owner investment has and will continue to occur through the property assessment 
mechanism of a Local Improvement District (LID). For the eastside, this investment represents 
over 10% of the project’s anticipated cost.  
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B. DENSITY YIELDS PUBLIC & PRIVATE RETURN ON INVESTMENT 
The high density development observed along Portland’s existing westside alignment is 
associated with numerous public benefits that can be understood as a return on the public’s 
investment in streetcar (ROI). These benefits include: 


1. Reduced auto dependence by promoting the trip not taken. 
2. Reduced infrastructure costs by reducing suburban greenfield development. 
3. Reduced sprawl (land consumption).  
4. Reduced carbon footprint resulting both from increased density of development and 


reduced auto dependence. 
5. Increased business and job generation through attracting the creative class demographic 


to which future and ongoing economic vitality is linked.   


1. Denser Development Reduces Auto Dependence: The relationship between land 
use and mode split – whether residents make trips by autos, bikes, streetcar or buses – is well 
established in Portland and throughout the U.S. The following table documents how mode split 
varies by transit availability and land use type within the Portland metro region.  


Figure 5. Mode Split by Development Type 


Land Use Type 


Mode 
Split: 
Auto 


Mode 
Split: 
Walk 


Mode 
Split: 


Transit 


Mode 
Split: 
Bike 


Mode 
Split: 


Other 


Daily 
Vehicle 


Miles per 
Capita 


Auto 
Ownership 


per 
Household 


Good Transit /    
Mixed Use 


58.1% 27.0% 11.5% 1.9% 1.5% 9.8 0.9 


Good Transit Only 74.4% 15.2% 7.9% 1.4% 1.1% 12.4 1.5 
Remainder of 
Multnomah Co. 


81.5% 9.7% 3.5% 1.6% 3.7% 17.3 1.7 


Remainder of Region 87.3% 6.1% 1.2% 0.8% 4.6% 21.8 1.9 
Source: Metro 1994 Travel Survey.  


Residents of mixed use neighborhoods (integrated commercial and residential development) with 
good transit service are less likely to use autos than are residents with good transit service but no 
mixed use development: 58 versus 74 percent of trips are auto-based. Region-wide, the average 
percentage of auto-based trips across all neighborhoods is even higher, at 87%.  


In mixed use neighborhoods, residents are almost twice as likely to walk, but they are also 45% 
more likely to use transit. This is because mixed use neighborhoods bring trip destinations within 
closer proximity, making non-auto modes of all kinds more convenient and attractive. Avoiding 
the need for auto-based travel can be referred to as the trip not taken. 


Transit investment – and particularly fixed transit investment such as streetcar – creates a 
positive feedback loop, in which streetcar encourages denser development, which encourages 
transit usage and other non-auto modes of transportation, which facilitates yet denser urban-scale 
development. 
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Total daily vehicle miles per capita decrease significantly for residents living in mixed use, 
transit-rich neighborhoods: at 9.8 miles, it is 26% lower than transit-rich but non mixed use 
neighborhoods and 122% lower than the regional average. When this savings is compounded by 
the number of households located near streetcar, the impact on regional congestion, CO2 
omissions and air quality is significant.  


A 2006 Portland Office of Transportation study Portland Streetcar Development Oriented 
Transit reported that 7,248 housing units had been constructed along Portland’s westside 
streetcar line by the end of 2005. The following table illustrates the VMT savings of locating 
these households within a mixed use, transit-rich environment as opposed to an ‘average’ 
suburban environment.  


Figure 6. VMT Reduced by Development Type  
(Portland Westside Results) 


  
High Density 
Environment 


Suburban 
Environment 


No. of Households 7,248 7,248


Total Persons* 15,946 15,946


Avg. Vehicle Miles/Day/Capita 9.8 21.8


Number of Days 315 315


Vehicle Miles/Year 49 million 109 million


Vehicle Miles Savings/Year 60 million and growing 
*Note:  Assumed average households size of 2.2 persons.  
Source: 1994 Metro Travel Survey, E. D. Hovee & Company, LLC.  


The urban housing that has been developed within streetcar-served neighborhoods over the past 
few years – within six years of streetcar opening – has reduced vehicle travel on Portland’s 
roadways by an estimated 70 million miles annually. This savings both reduces congestion and 
improves air quality.  


The true cost of congestion is just beginning to be documented and quantified. A 2005 study by 
the Economic Development Research Group concluded that congested transportation networks 
have a significant impact on Portland’s transportation-dependent economy, including the 
movement of freight.  


Even with an anticipated $4.2+ billion in planned investments on the region’s transportation 
capital improvements project list over the next 20 years, increased congestion was calculated to 
cost the Portland metro region $844 million annually by 2025 and 118,000 hours of vehicle time 
daily. Investments in transportation above what has been planned are estimated to generate an 
economic benefit (or ROI) of $2 for every dollar spent.3  


2. Denser Development Reduces Infrastructure Costs:  The Portland metro area is 
expected to add one million new residents by 2030. This is equivalent to adding two new cities 
the size of Portland to the region. The cost of providing infrastructure for household growth 
varies dramatically according to where these households locate.  
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One option is to locate households in greenfields, converting rural land uses to urban.  The City 
of Damascus – a newly incorporated city on the eastern edge of the metro region – is an example 
of this approach, and is currently struggling to finance infrastructure for its 12,200 acres to 
accommodate a projected 24,900 new households. Damascus’s transportation network alone is 
estimated to cost between $1.9 and $2.8 billion.  


In contrast, westside streetcar investment of $100 million to date was instrumental in bringing 
over 7,000 new households within three blocks of the alignment (as of January 2006). On a cost 
per added household basis, streetcar investment was $14,000, an incremental number that falls as 
new units are constructed. In contrast, transportation infrastructure to serve the City of Damascus 
is estimated to cost between $76,000 and $112,000 per household.  


Figure 7. Infrastructure Cost by Development Type 
(Westside Alternative vs. Suburban Alternative) 


 Streetcar Alignment Damascus 
Number of households 7,248 24,952 
Public investment Actual  High Low 
   Transportation infrastructure              $100,000,000 $2,800,000,000 $1,900,000,000  
   Cost per household $14,000 and falling $112,000             $76,000  


Source: Portland Office of Transportation, Portland Streetcar Development Oriented Transit, January 2006,  
www.co.clackamas.or.us/dtd/damascus/, E. D. Hovee & Company, LLC.  


Capturing future growth within mixed use, transit-served neighborhoods will best preserve our 
transportation infrastructure and reduce the staggering – and unfunded – costs associated with 
maintaining and expanding the transportation networks fundamental to continued economic 
growth for the city and the metro region. 


3. Denser Development Limits Sprawl: In addition to reducing infrastructure costs, denser 
communities conserve land. Housing developed along Portland’s westside streetcar alignment 
uses a remarkable 1760% less land than will planned housing development within the newly 
incorporated City of Damascus.   


Figure 8. Land Use by Development Type 
(Westside Experience vs. Suburban Alternative) 


 
Streetcar 


Alignment 
Suburban 


Environment 
Households               7,248 7,248 


Households per Acre 137 7.8 


 
Average realized units 


per building
Damascus average lot size 


is 5,600 square feet


Acres Required                   53 932 


Acres Saved        879 and growing 
Source: Portland Office of Transportation, Portland Streetcar Development Oriented Transit, January 2006,  


www.co.clackamas.or.us/dtd/damascus/, E. D. Hovee & Company, LLC. 







 


E.D. Hovee & Company, LLC for City of Portland Office of Transportation: 
Streetcar-Development Linkage: The Portland (Template 14) Approach Page 12 
  


The average number of units within the 52 residential buildings developed within three blocks of 
Portland’s existing westside streetcar alignment is 137. Some of these buildings are smaller than 
a city block (which is roughly one acre), so this unit count per acre is conservative. In contrast, 
average planned lot size within Damascus equates to fewer than eight housing units per acre.  


When these densities are multiplied by the units realized so far along the westside streetcar 
alignment, the resulting land savings is enormous. If streetcar-associated housing were located in 
greenfield development, it would have required an additional 879 acres, as opposed to the 
(maximum) 53 acres it now occupies.  


4. Denser Development Reduces Carbon Footprint: A carbon footprint represents the 
total amount of carbon dioxide (CO2) and related greenhouse gases emitted over the full life 
cycle of a product or service such as transportation or real estate development. Carbon footprint 
describes both construction carbon (carbon released through the manufacture, shipment and 
installation of materials) and operational carbon (released in heating, cooling, running electrical 
appliances, etc.).  


Initial modeling indicates significant carbon savings for high density urban development 
compared to traditional suburban development: a 64% savings in transportation and 45% CO2 
improvement associated with an urban versus suburban development footprint. 


Figure 9. Carbon Footprint by Development Type 
(Illustrative Westside Experience vs. Suburban Alternative) 


  


 High 
Density 


Environment  
 Suburban 


Environment  
Residential Footprint   
  Annual Tons of CO2 per Household                  5.9                17.1 
  Annualized Per Household Savings                11.2  
  Number of Households              7,248              7,248 
  Annual Tons of CO2             43,007           118,466 
  Annualized High Density Savings             75,459  
  % High Density Savings 64%  
   
Employment Footprint   
  Annual Tons of CO2 per Job                  5.1                  9.2 
  Annualized Per Job Savings                  4.1  
  Number of Jobs             11,500             11,500 
  Annual Tons of CO2             14,016             25,283 
  Annual High Density Savings             11,267  
  % High Density Savings 45%  


Note:  Job growth was derived from 4,600,000 square feet of recorded commercial building development 
between 1998 and 2005, with an assumed job density of 400 square feet per employee. 25% of the 
demonstrated job growth has been attributed to streetcar investment.  


Source: E. D. Hovee & Company, LLC.  
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Combined savings vary with environment, according to the mix of commercial and residential 
development realized. Carbon savings specifically derive from:  


• Lower daily VMT per resident and employee; 
• Less land and building area used for housing and commercial development; 
• Reduced ongoing energy consumption with urban versus suburban densities of 


development; and 
• Potential for further carbon reduction (beyond what is calculated to date) if future 


streetcar investments are accompanied by commitment for purchase of green energy. 


5. Denser Development Facilitates Economic Development. Dense development – a 
key to pedestrian-filled streets and successful mixed use neighborhoods – is increasingly 
recognized as an economic generator because it attracts both residents and businesses who want 
to live in quality, vibrant communities. The idea that lifestyle can drive economic development 
was heralded by Richard Florida through this introduction of the ‘Creative Class.’ Florida 
attributes this newly coined demographic sector – and its lifestyle preferences – as the key 
driving force for post-industrial economic development in the USA.4  


Economist Joe Cortwright operationalized the Creative Class concept by focusing on college-
educated 25 to 34 year olds as the people creating the new ideas that help drive the economy 
forward, and documented his research in his 2004 study The Young and Restless.5 This age group 
has completed its education and is pursuing careers; beyond this age, the likelihood of moving 
decreases sharply. If a region can attract young talent, it is likely to keep it. Cortright reports that 
Portland is succeeding in attracting this demographic cohort: between 1990 and 2000, this age 
group increased by 12% in Portland, in sharp contrast to its overall national decline of 8%.  


Cortright conducted focus group in six American cities – Philadelphia, Memphis, Providence, 
Richmond, Tampa and Portland – and found that Portland elicited the most positive reviews:  


“Its urban fabric has the special appeal, with participants citing the city’s size, 
walkability, public transportation, bike-friendliness, distinctive neighborhoods and 
independent businesses as contributing to a feeling of community, manageability and 
safety.” 


The focus groups generated themes to attractive communities, including the theme of Vibrant 
Places. Cortright’s report states that the desire for Vibrant Places is expressed in many different 
ways, but always includes a successful downtown.  


“Many mentioned their desire for a city animated by its walkability and mixed uses 
which give people reasons to walk. To supplement a city’s walkability was the desire 
for mass transit. Based on the comments of focus group participants, good public 
transit seems to be required for a city to be judged the complete package for this 
demographic.”   


Cortright’s study concludes that the region’s growth in young, college-educated adults has been 
fueled by the attractiveness of the Central City and Washington County, particularly the denser 
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inner neighborhoods – both in and near the Central City area. Young adults generally, and 
college-educated 25 to 34 year olds in particular, are now disproportionately represented in 
close-in Portland neighborhoods; residents within three miles of the city center are 50% more 
likely to be 25 to 34 years old. 


Denser development – and the walkability, mix of uses, and supportive transit that it entails – is a 
proven attraction for older empty nesters and now is increasingly valued by young professionals. 
Attracting these professionals is an important economic development strategy for America’s 
cities. This is especially true in an impending era of stagnant or shrinking labor force availability 
as baby boomers begin to exit the work force.  
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IIIIII..  SSTTRREEEETTCCAARR--DDEEVVEELLOOPPMMEENNTT  FFUUTTUURREESS 


The reintroduction of streetcar to America’s cities is so recent that there has not been time to 
consider long-term opportunities. Is streetcar a one-shot experience to link high amenity 
attractors – tourist, residential, retail, and institutional? Or should these initial streetcar 
investments be considered as step one to a more systematic, city- or region-wide approach to 
neighborhood based transit service?    


The experience of cities with existing systems – notably San Francisco and Philadelphia – clearly 
suggest that streetcar is best viewed not as a single alignment, but in the context of a broader 
network of transportation accessibility and associated economic development opportunity.  


This is clearly the path the City of Portland is currently pursuing: 


• As its next initiative, Portland has proposed a 3.35-mile extension of the existing 
westside alignment across the Willamette River to the eastside, creating a Streetcar Loop.  


• The city has embarked on an even more ambitious long-term planning program – a 
Portland Streetcar System Plan – outlining a possible streetcar network with multiple 
alignments as integral to the city’s transportation and economic development future.  


Using the Portland experience as a springboard for discussion, this chapter suggests criteria with 
which proposed streetcar projects can be ranked according to their potential economic 
development impact.  


The private investment that cities leverage through their investment in streetcar may prove as 
diverse as the cities, neighborhoods and business districts that streetcars can serve. However, 
there are fundamental steps that cities can take to ensure that the regulatory environment is 
prepared to encourage investment. Beyond this, an independent assessment of an area’s market 
readiness for investment is the best available means to estimate market response to streetcar.  


Portland is investing in additional streetcar infrastructure to transform its current westside 
alignment into a complete loop encompassing both the west and east sides of its Central City. 
This chapter includes responses to the proposed criteria for the Portland Streetcar Loop. 
Responses indicate that further investment in Portland’s streetcar infrastructure is a sound 
financial strategy: Portland streetcar is positioned to succeed in generating economic 
development returns.   


Four primary criteria are proposed: 


• How does streetcar investment promote and expand employment centers; 
• Does the regulatory environment uniformly impel higher density development; 
• Do market conditions support higher density development; and 
• What public incentives beyond transit are available to support high density development? 
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A.  PORTLAND STREETCAR LOOP WILL ADVANCE EMPLOYMENT CENTERS 
1. The Streetcar Loop Connects Regional Employment Centers with Significant 
Development Potential. The existing westside alignment runs through the west end of 
downtown Portland, connecting two major medical institutions, two universities, and two 
significant tracks of largely vacant and redevelopable land. The proposed Portland Streetcar 
Loop will both extend and reinforce the benefits generated through the westside alignment.  


The area within ½ mile of existing westside streetcar stations and planned eastside streetcar 
stations accommodated 204,800 jobs in 2005 and is expected to support 217,300 jobs by the year 
2011. Job density in 2005 within this area was 37,923 jobs per square mile, forecast to increase 
to 40,240 jobs per square mile in the year 2011. Employment within this area represents virtually 
every economic sector.  


The Portland Streetcar Loop will connect the following Central City inner neighborhoods, each 
of which is a significant employment center:   


• The Downtown Core, encompassing the region’s highest densities of government and 
private offices at just under 17 million square feet of multi-tenant leased office space. As 
of fall 2007 Class A vacancies were 5%; four significant office towers are slated to begin 
construction in 2008 bringing an additional roughly one million square feet or 3,000 jobs 
to the district. Downtown also hosts the region’s greatest density of art galleries and arts 
organizations, hotels, and entertainment venues. 


• Northwest (including the Pearl, River District and Old Town neighborhoods), adjacent to 
downtown and distinguished by its industrial roots, considerable warehouse-to-
condominium conversions, and significant recent investment in both urban housing and 
amenity-rich green office buildings (now 2.4 million square feet of multi-tenant leased 
office space, 425,000 additional square feet proposed for 2008).  


• The Lloyd District, a regional retail destination with substantial federal, state and private 
office buildings (2.2 million square feet of multi-tenant leased office space), the state’s 
largest professional sports complex and the Oregon Convention Center (newly expanded 
to 225,000 square feet of exhibition space). 


• Central Eastside, a transforming industrial district that over the past decade has seen the 
highest density of redevelopment on the city’s east side. 


• South Waterfront, a former and largely vacant industrial area that since 2005 has realized 
three completed residential projects with four more underway or in planning. 
Approximately 30 acres is owned by Oregon Health Sciences University, which has 
completed its first building and plans to bring additional health, research and educational 
facilities to the district.  


Eight areas within these neighborhoods – ranging from four blocks to 85 acres – are notable for 
their significant development potential and active development planning. All are served by the 
Portland Streetcar Loop Project. Combined, they represent close to 250 acres and an estimated 
potential of over $5 billion in additional investment. For each area, the realization of 
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redevelopment planning at the densities envisioned is dependent upon major access 
improvements. 


Figure 10. Streetcar Loop Economic Development Generators 


 
Source: PDC, Metro, E. D. Hovee & Company, LLC.  
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Areas of significant development potential are detailed below.  


1. North of Lovejoy: Northwest Portland’s Pearl District was developed primarily by 
Hoyt Street Properties, which owned the 40-acre Burlington Northern rail yards that were 
converted into a vibrant, urban mixed use district. This initial development was 
predicated on city investment in establishing the Portland Streetcar. The company’s 
remaining undeveloped land plus additional acquisitions now total 20 acres. The service 
improvement associated with the Portland Streetcar Loop extension will increase 
accessibility and frequency of service, and support continued high value development in 
the area. Hoyt Street Properties’ program for full build-out includes 1,700 units and 
725,000 square feet of commercial space.  


2. Post Office Blocks: On the westside of the Central City at NW Lovejoy and Broadway 
is a 12.4-acre site currently occupied by the U.S. Post Office. Initial feasibility work has 
been completed for relocating this facility to the Portland Airport, freeing up this central 
site for high density development with connections to Union Station, the Portland Transit 
Mall and Pearl District. Extension of the existing streetcar to the eastside would pass by 
this redevelopment site, before crossing the Willamette River. The planned streetcar and 
existing transit service would provide excellent access, enabling more intense 
development of the site.  


3. Lloyd Crossing: The 25-acre site of the Lloyd Crossing – the heart of Portland’s Lloyd 
District – has a zoned density that would allow 10 million square feet of additional 
construction. The property is primarily owned by Ashforth Pacific and Kaiser 
Permanente, both of whom have participated in area planning efforts such as the 2004 
Lloyd Crossing Plan. Streetcar will provide an organizing principal for a new Main Street 
within this district along 7th Avenue, the planned northbound alignment. Area plans call 
for the transition of the district’s adjacent surface lots into high density developments 
with structured parking (FAR in this area is 15:1). Ashforth Pacific President Hank 
Ashforth describes streetcar commitment as fundamental to realization of the district’s 
potential.  


4. Burnside Bridgehead: The Burnside Bridgehead project is a four-acre mixed used 
project in a pivotal location at the eastern end of downtown’s gateway bridge. This 
project’s key location at a north-south and east-west crossroads and significant size result 
in considerable potential to induce adjacent development. The development will be mixed 
use, with office or retail leading the first phase. Anticipated total development value 
ranges from $150 to $250 million.  


5. Employment Opportunity Subarea (EOS): Effective in January 2007, this newly 
designated EOS zoning applies to 85 acres within the Central Eastside Industrial 
Sanctuary, which is located within one block of the proposed eastside alignment. The 
zoning allows for greater flexibility in office development, increasing square footage 
maximums and liberalizing the types of office use allowed outright within the industrial 
district. It responds to private market interest in transitioning this former warehousing 
district to flexible office space in demand by creative firms. The EOS will serve as an 
important test application for extending streetcar benefits to major sources of 
employment as well as residence. 
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6. OMSI District: The OMSI District centers on 22 acres owned by the Oregon Museum of 
Science and Industry (OMSI), but also includes the Portland Opera offices and Portland 
Community College. OMSI is now undertaking a master planning process that includes 
the redevelopment of existing surface parking and a recently acquired 6.2-acre parcel. 
Phase I plans call for a 100,000 square foot museum expansion and a 100,000 square foot 
science academy, to be run in partnership with Oregon Health Sciences University, that 
will attract high school students from throughout the state.  
Phase II plans focus on the newly acquired 6.2 acres. OMSI envisions office development 
compatible with its science focus. Current zoning would enable the development of over 
one million square feet. Phase II construction is slated for 2013-2014.  
In 2015, this district will connect to OHSU South Waterfront by the proposed Portland to 
Milwaukie light rail bridge, which is also proposed to accommodate the Portland 
Streetcar Loop when completed. The connection to the OHSU South Waterfront District 
will further development interest in both areas by increasing connectivity between these 
two related employment centers. Anticipated density has increased as a result of the 
increased access that both light rail and streetcar will provide. 


7. OHSU South Waterfront:  The south end of the Portland Streetcar Loop is proposed to 
be served by both streetcar and light rail. Approximately 25 acres within the South 
Waterfront District are owned by Oregon Health Sciences University, which has recently 
expanded its campus to the South Waterfront by building an aerial tram to connect the 
main campus on the Marquam Hill with the new streetcar-served waterfront property, 
500+ feet below. The first 400,000 square foot building was completed in 2006 and 
represents a $145 million investment. An additional building is planned every five years, 
with a total build out capacity exceeding 3 million square feet. The ability to develop the 
transportation-constrained South Waterfront District at the planned intensity is entirely 
dependent upon assuring effective and convenient access to the district.  
The new light rail bridge – planned to open in 2015 – will connect South Waterfront with 
the emerging OMSI District, bringing together two employment and science centers on 
opposite sides of the Willamette River that will be within 90 seconds of one another.   


8. University District: Portland State University is now Oregon’s largest educational 
institution, with more students enrolled than at any other campus in the state. PSU 
currently owns 49 acres in the southern end of downtown Portland, and is acquiring 
more. Over the next ten years, the university plans to increase enrollment from 25,000 to 
35,000 students; double research grants to $80,000,000 annually; develop close to 0.5 
million square feet for academic, lab, research and classroom space; develop 200,000 
square feet for retail and collaboration space, and develop between one and two million 
square feet of housing and dining services.  


The acreage and value associated with each of these significant development areas is 
summarized in the following table.  
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Figure 11. Significant Development Areas Summary 
Map 
ID Development Area Name Acres Potential Value Use 
1 North of Lovejoy 


Contact: Tiffany Sweitzer, Hoyt 
Realty: 


20 More than $0.5 billion (50% 
of observed density of 137 


units/acre) 


Residential / Commercial 


2 Post Office 
Contact: Sarah Harpole, PDC: 


12.4 $0.5 billion (assuming FAR 
of 6, 25% infrastructure set 


aside, 50% development)  


Residential / Commercial 


3 Lloyd Crossing 
Contact: Hank Ashforth, Ashforth 
Pacific 


25 More than $1 billion (50% 
of max potential SF) 


Office / Retail / Residential 


4 Burnside Bridgehead 
Contact: Kia Selley, PDC 


4 $150 - $250 million (all 
phases) 


Office / Retail / Residential 


5 Employment Opportunity Subarea 
Contact: Denyse McGrif, PDCf 


85 More than $0.5 billion 
(assuming 20% of property 
redevelops at an FAR of 3) 


Office / Retail 


6 Oregon Museum of Science & 
Industry (OMSI) District 
Contact: Pat LaCrosse 


22 $229 million (50% of max 
potential SF) 


Institutional / Educational / 
Office 


7 OHSU South Waterfront 
Contact: Mark Williams, OHSU: 


25 $3 billion + Institutional / Office 


8 University District 
Contact: Mark Gregory, PSU 


49+ $700 million Institutional / Residential / 
Commercial 


             Total 242 Over $5 billion  
Source: Development representatives; E. D. Hovee & Company, LLC.   


2. The Alignment Integrates with Existing Transit Investment to Connect Growing 
Neighborhoods with Employment. The proposed Portland Streetcar Loop Project would 
connect with five regional light rail lines, the existing streetcar line and 13 high-frequency bus 
lines. Approximately 80% of the regional system’s riders – 240,000 on an average weekday – 
will have the opportunity to transfer to or from the Streetcar Loop.  


The project would also pass approximately three blocks from Amtrak’s Union Station and two 
blocks from the Greyhound bus station, offering daily intercity service to all of the cities of the 
west coast and the nation. 
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Figure 12. Overview of Portland Metro Area Rail System  


 


Project Area


 
Note: Red, blue and yellow solid lines represent existing light rail. Dashed lines are light rail extensions 


currently underway.  
Source: TriMet, Metro. 


This map illustrates streetcar’s central position and transportation role from a regional 
perspective, illustrating the Regional Centers that fixed transit serves today and will serve in the 
future. The Streetcar Loop Project complements this system by intersecting with it and providing 
more frequent service within the region’s most dense and mixed use central neighborhoods.  


The light rail lines that connect the Central City with Portland’s suburbs serve as highways and 
arterials; by comparison streetcar serves as a local street within the finer grain environment of 
Portland’s Central City neighborhoods.  
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B.  CITY PLANNING PROMOTES HIGHER DENSITY DEVELOPMENT 
City planning positively affects density of development in two ways – encouragement of higher 
floor area ratios (FARs) together with facilitation of mixed use rather than single purpose 
development.  


1. Zoning Allows for Floor Area Ratios Well in Excess of Current Development. 
Since 1980 and the adoption of the Portland Central City Plan, the city has envisioned a transit 
streetcar circulator and crafted all city policies and regulations – including zoning, height limits 
and Floor Area Ratios (FARs) – to support high density land uses consistent with a streetcar-
supported urban environment. 


Portland measures density through Floor Area Ratios (FARs), which are regulated by zoning.6 
Maximum FARs for properties situated along the planned eastside alignment range from 4:1 to 
12:1; most properties fall between 6:1 and 9:1. The amount of development potential – the 
difference between the maximum allowed FAR and the existing FAR – along and around the 
planned eastside alignment is substantial. Within the Central Eastside (the southern portion of the 
eastside alignment), the overall ratio of potential to existing building square footage is 6.5:1 – 
meaning that the district can support 6.5 times more square footage (by zoning) than is currently 
on the ground.  


Within three blocks of the planned eastside alignment (the primary impact area), current 
development equals only 15% of maximum allowed development (according to FAR limits). 
Much of the existing development is single-story buildings, surface parking lots, or other 
undeveloped space. With the exception of the Oregon Convention Center blocks, there are fewer 
than four city blocks within the Project Area that currently utilize more than 50% of the allowed 
FAR.  


Highlights of the density potential within the Portland Streetcar Loop Project Area include: 


• The equivalent of approximately 36 city blocks zoned at 12:1 maximum FAR in the 
Lloyd District, 16 of them immediately adjacent to the Portland Streetcar Loop 
alignment. 


• Fifty-three city block equivalents within one block of the alignment that are zoned for a 
maximum FAR of between 7:1 and 9:1. 


• Thirty-two city block equivalents within one block of the alignment that are zoned for a 
maximum of between 5:1 and 6:1 FAR. 


Existing and potential development is illustrated in the following two graphics. The red circle in 
the first graphic highlights the existing low densities along the proposed eastside extension.  
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Figure 13. Existing FAR Density & Portland Streetcar Loop 


 


 
Source: City of Portland, Bureau of Planning.   


The second graphic (below) illustrates the significantly higher densities that zoning permits and 
which the proposed alignment is increasingly well-positioned to support.  


Figure 14. FAR Development Potential with Portland Streetcar Loop 


 
   Source: City of Portland, Bureau of Planning.               
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The following table provides additional detail regarding existing and potential development 
surrounding the planned eastside streetcar alignment within the Central Eastside, the southern 
portion of the eastside alignment.  


Figure 15. Existing Vs. Potential Building Square Footage, Central Eastside 
Distance 
from 
Streetcar Land Area (SF) 


Existing 
Building SF FAR 


Potential 
Building SF 


Potential to 
Existing SF Ratio 


1 block              6,074,000  5,053,000          5.9  35,836,600  7.1 
2 block              1,923,000  1,862,000          5.1  9,807,300  5.3 
3 block                 785,999  512,000          3.8  2,986,796  5.8 
3 block+                 707,000  687,000          5.3  3,747,100  5.5 
              9,489,999  8,114,000          5.5  52,377,796  6.5 


Source: City of Portland, E. D. Hovee & Company, LLC.  


2. Zoning Encourages Mixed Use Development. In addition to the provision of good 
transit service, a mixed use environment is instrumental to facilitating high rates of transit usage. 
The planned eastside alignment has both comprehensive plan and zoning designations that 
provide for dense mixed use development, setting the stage for a compact and vibrant urban 
neighborhood. Figure 16 illustrates the comprehensive plan designations surrounding the 
proposed NE Oregon - Grand Ave. streetcar station. Purple and pink designate mixed use 
development, red is commercial, and orange is multi-family residential.7  
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Figure 16. Streetcar Alignment Comprehensive Plan Designations 
 


 
Source: Metro. 







 


E.D. Hovee & Company, LLC for City of Portland Office of Transportation: 
Streetcar-Development Linkage: The Portland (Template 14) Approach Page 26 
  


3. Beyond Regulations, Development Strategies Have Emphasized Denser 
Development. Portland’s westside experience of significant redevelopment within streetcar-
served neighborhoods was facilitated by both streetcar and accompanying investments and 
development agreements. These additional pubic incentives included master development 
agreements ensuring minimum densities with significant property owners in Northwest Portland 
and South Waterfront. In previously vacant areas within these districts, this public contribution 
to new parks development and support of unique district streetscape design (such as street 
lighting) furthered both the city’s and developers’ interest in creating distinctive urban 
neighborhoods.  


Along the planned eastside alignment, the City of Portland is actively engaging property owners 
to encourage and influence redevelopment planning in response to the significant investment that 
streetcar represents. One example is the 2004 Lloyd Crossing project, which encompasses the 
25-acre/34-block core of the Lloyd District – just east of the Willamette River. Project concepts 
developed to date have encouraged both visionary thinking and communication between large 
property owners.  


Figure 17. High Rise Catalyst Project Concept, Lloyd Crossing 


 
Source: Lloyd Crossing Sustainable Urban Design Plan & Catalyst Project, PDC.  


Property owners have worked together to detail siting and design for over 8 million square feet 
of new development with an environmental footprint smaller than the area’s existing 2 million 
square feet of building space. The amount of new development envisioned equates to about 70% 
of the area’s zoned FAR. Streetcar will provide an organizing principal for a new Main Street 
within this district along 7th Avenue, the planned northbound alignment. 
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The Convention Center Hotel and the Burnside Bridgehead project are two additional major 
projects situated adjacent to the planned eastside alignment, both supported by public-private 
development agreements currently in negotiations. These projects are detailed in later sections of 
this report.  


Even though eastside streetcar is still only in the planning stage, twenty planned investments 
have been identified along the alignment (also detailed below). The City or Portland is 
communicating with these property owners to encourage progress and identify means for public 
support. Through its development and transportation agencies, the city recognizes the importance 
of ongoing and in-depth conversations with and between property owners to encourage visionary 
thinking about the area’s potential and to move the pace of redevelopment forward.  
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C. MARKET CONDITIONS SUPPORT HIGHER DENSITY REDEVELOPMENT 
Based on Portland experience to date, indicators of market conditions supporting higher density 
development include increasing investment interest, capitalizing on low improvement to land 
value ratios, encouragement of new development along a proposed alignment, and confidence 
necessary to replicate this experience in one urban location, then another – all leading to 
development increasingly predicated on and oriented to streetcar investment.  


1. Market Trends Indicate Opportunity for Increased Investment Interest. 
Significant development was realized within just five years of Portland’s westside streetcar 
investment. Many factors supported this extraordinary response in addition to streetcar, including 
public-private development agreements, significant under-developed tracts of land, consolidated 
land ownership, and a national resurgence in Central City housing options. These development 
factors can be found within neighborhoods adjacent to the planned eastside alignment as well. 


The eastside of Portland’s Central City includes a wide range of buildings types, ranging from 
newer office towers and larger institutional and civic uses in the northern end to historic, vacant 
warehouses in the southern portion. Over the past decade, numerous significant historic 
warehouses have been renovated and occupied at much higher densities.  


This reinvestment in and reuse of historic building stock is a recognized first stage of the urban 
real estate cycle. Lower cost renovated space attracts small, creative firms. Then, as occupancy 
and pedestrian activity increase, rents increase to a level that can support new construction.  


The southern portion of the eastside alignment runs within one block of industrial sanctuary 
zoning. Recognizing market pressure to transform the aging warehouse stock within this 
centrally located industrial district, the City of Portland liberalized its zoning for the 
Employment Opportunity Subarea (EOS) in January 2007 to broaden the types of office and 
related uses considered appropriate for this district.  


Examples of investment already occurring are described in the following table. This list is a 
sample only and by no means exhaustive.  
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Figure 18. Recent Investment in Eastside Neighborhoods Planned for Streetcar 


 


1. E. Alexander Building 
This former garage and inventor’s workshop was 
renovated as office and commercial space in 2006. 
The developer is now beginning work on the full-
block building immediately to the west. 


2. Olympic Mills Commerce Center 
Renovation of this 
172,000 square foot 
historic surplus grain mill 
is currently underway. 
Flexible work space will 
be ready for occupancy in 
early 2008.  


3. Jones Cash Building 
This 80,000 square foot 
former warehouse is one 
of Portland’s first retail 
mail-order businesses; it 
was later renovated for 
use as a cold-storage 
warehouse. Portland firm 
Venerable Properties 


purchased and renovated the building in 2000 for 
creative workspace. 


4. Eastbank Commerce Center 
With renovation 
completed in 2002, this 
160,000-square-foot 
former warehouse now 
houses light industrial 
facilities, office space, a 
restaurant and services 


under one roof with shipping, production and 
warehousing capabilities.  


5. RiverEast Center 
In 2006, this 91,000 square 
foot warehouse was remodeled 
and occupied by co-owners 
Group Mackenzie (architecture 
and engineering) and Coaxis 
(software development). The 
riverfront building features 
about 15,000 square feet of 
groundfloor space leased to 
Portland Boathouse Inc., 


including space for boat storage and public boat 
rentals. 
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2. Improvement to Land Value Ratios are Low Surrounding Planned Alignment. 
Improvement to land value ratios are a clear indicator of the relative market worth of buildings to 
land. A low improvements to land value ratio can indicate that investment in an area is low 
enough that redevelopment of properties makes economic sense.8 


On Portland’s westside, an estimated 68% of new construction experienced post 1997 occurred 
on sites that had a pre-development building improvements to land value ratio of less than 0.5. 
For this redevelopment, on-site building improvements pre-1997 were valued at less than 50% of 
land value.  


This data is compiled for sites for which there is complete valuation and square footage 
information covering pre-1997 and 2005 conditions.9 An additional 19% of building square 
footage occurred on sites with improvements to land valuation of 0.5-1.0 and 13% on sites with 
improvements valuation that exceeded land valuation.  


For Portland’s westside, more than 200 acres (or 37%% of land area evaluated) within three 
blocks of the streetcar alignment had building improvements to land valuation ratios of less than 
0.5 as of 1997. Despite substantial new investment, there is still substantial opportunity for 
continuing development on vacant and underutilized properties on Portland’s westside.  


Figure 19. Pre-1997 Improvement to Land Value Ratios of Westside Lots  
that Redeveloped from 1997-2005 (Portland Westside) 


Improvement to Land 
Valuation Ratio Tax Lots 


Square 
Footage 


Developed 


Percent of 
Square Footage 


Developed* 
< 0.5 30 2,803,000 68% 
0.5 - 1.0 11 767,000 19% 
> 1.0 7 557,000 13% 
Parcels w/incomplete data 90 3,101,000 --- 
Total 138       7,228,000 100% 


* Note: Percentage distribution is for parcels with complete data available.  
Source:   Metro RLIS 1997-2005, E. D. Hovee & Company, LLC. 


Applying these thresholds based on westside experience to eastside neighborhoods indicates 
strong potential for development stimulated with the extension of streetcar to the full Portland 
Streetcar Loop configuration as currently proposed. As was the case on the westside, a 
substantial portion of land within inner eastside neighborhoods at present supports only low 
value building investments – an important criterion in estimating the likelihood that 
redevelopment and increased investment will occur.  


An estimated 37% percent of acreage within three blocks of the planned eastside alignment is 
associated with improvement to land value ratios of less than 0.5. This represents just over 120 
acres of land that is either vacant or with low value building improvements at present. In effect, 
these sites can be considered as the most viable candidates for substantial redevelopment and 
new construction with an extension of streetcar to Portland’s eastside.  
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An additional 6% of acreage within three blocks of the proposed eastside alignment (or close to 
20 acres) falls within a ratio range of 0.5-1.0, representing a second (but smaller) tier of 
redevelopment candidates.  


Figure 20. Improvement to Land Value Ratios within Three Blocks  
of Proposed Alignment (Portland Eastside) 


Improvement to Land 
Value Ratio Taxlots Acres 


Percent of 
Acreage 


Less than 0.5 387             120.1 37% 
0.5 - 1 83               19.8 6% 
Over 1.0 461             187.7 57% 
Excluded* 109               24.9 --- 
Total 1,040             352.5 100% 


*Note: Excluded land includes right-of-ways and open space. This land was not included in the percentage 
allocation of land by improvement to land value ratio.  


Source:   Metro RLIS August 2007 update, E. D. Hovee & Company, LLC.   


This measure does not ensure that all properties with low improvement values will eventually 
redevelop. Some low value buildings or even surface lots may provide income streams at very 
low risk compared with returns available from redevelopment.  


However, given the strong correlation of sites with low valued building improvements on 
Portland’s westside to subsequent redevelopment, these currently ‘under-improved’ sites clearly 
become front-runner candidates for streetcar oriented reinvestment and development.  


A visual overview of the building to land value relationship for Portland’s eastside is provided in 
the following map. This map indicates that under-improved land is distributed throughout the 
district, but is especially prominent in the Lloyd District (the northern portion of the planned 
eastside alignment).  


The Lloyd District tends to have more contiguous whole block parcels with low improvement to 
land value ratios. By comparison, Central Eastside sites (south of the I-84 freeway) tend to be 
more fragmented and are more often situated in less than whole block configurations. 
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Figure 21. Map of Improvement to Land Value Ratios 


 
Source: RLIS August 2007 update, E. D. Hovee & Company, LLC.  
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3. Significant New Development is Planned for the Proposed Alignment. Increased 
investment is already planned along the eastside alignment, despite the fact that complete 
funding has yet to be secured. (With funding not yet committed, it is too early to expect the 
market to fully respond to the catalytic potential of streetcar investment). Planned investment 
does, however, indicate the general trajectory of the neighborhoods for which streetcar 
introduction is planned.  


Planned projects that have been shared with the authors of this updated Template 14 report are 
summarized below and organized within two categories:   


• Significant Projects describe sizable projects dependent upon a development agreement 
with the City of Portland to proceed. These projects are highly dependent upon streetcar 
investment, for which developers are willing to commit to higher density construction.  


• Planned Projects describe projects currently in planning phase, undertaken by property 
owners without city input. The size and value of Planned Projects has been estimated; 
project representatives have also rated the impact of streetcar investment on project plans 
and timing.  


Significant Projects: There are two negotiations underway for two locally and regionally 
Significant Projects adjacent to the streetcar alignment. Streetcar development is a significant 
factor in both projects. Projects are mapped in Figure 23.  


• Convention Center Hotel (9):  The City of Portland has selected a hotel operator and 
development team for a two-block site adjacent to the Oregon Convention Center. 
Negotiations are underway to secure project financing. Developers state that the streetcar 
will provide access to the Pearl and OMSI Districts for convention visitors and 
significantly enhance the viability of the proposed hotel. Streetcar is also pivotal to 
redevelopment of the blocks adjacent to the Convention Center, which is necessary for 
bookings to grow.   


• Burnside Bridgehead (11): This project was also listed above as a Development Area 
due to its magnitude. The four-acre site will be developed in a mix of uses; Phase I will 
focus on commercial and retail uses. The development team is now seeking tenants. 
Public commitment to streetcar is a key factor in negotiations with the city that include 
minimum site densities.  


Other Planned Projects. The final category of anticipated investment is projects now in 
planning or construction phase that will be undertaken without city involvement.  


The following table reports 20 projects identified to date (including the two significant projects 
detailed above). These projects represent a total estimated investment value of close to $1.2 
billion. Private investment will only grow as streetcar funding is secured and the alignment is 
realized. 


In the following table, all projects have been rated by project spokespeople in regard to their 
dependence on streetcar to move forward as planned. All but three project representatives 
describe their dependence on streetcar as ‘high.’  
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This list includes only eastside projects. However, the Portland Streetcar Loop Project will also 
support additional high density development on the westside by doubling the current frequency 
of service. 


Figure 22. Planned Projects within Three Blocks of Eastside Streetcar 
New/Rehab


Units
Blanchard Building  501 N Dickson St 348,000
Carter MacNichol, Shiels Obletz Johnsen
Left Bank 240 N Broadway Blvd
Daniel Deutsch, Alora Properties
1618 N Vancouver Avenue
Daniel Deutsch, Alora Properties


Bee Car Rental  NE 1st Ave & Weidler Blvd New
Sara King, Portland Development Commission Units TBD
Old Rosary Housing Site NE Wasco & 2nd Ave 50,000 New Residential 2010+ High
Sara King, Portland Development Commission Units TBD
Schlesinger Holdings Blocks 47-49  530,000 New 
Barry Schlesinger, Schlesinger Properties (Phase I)
Cosmopolitan Tower  NE Grand & Holladay St New
Tom Gibbons, LRS Architects 204 units


8 Urban Village NE 7th/9th/Holladay/Mult superblock 750,000 $300 million New Office or Office/ Currently High
Hank Ashforth, Ashforth Pacific Units TBD Residential Marketing
Westin Convention Center Hotel  NE MLK & 400,000
Holladay St  (Phase I)
Reed Wagner, Metro
Rich's Deli  430 NE Lloyd St New
Joe Angel, Pacific Star Units TBD
Burnside Bridgehead   East end of Burnside 365,000 New
Bridge
Brian Bennett, OPUS 
United Finance  NE corner of Burnside & Grand 
Richard Parker, United Finance


13 Bside6 340 SE 6th Ave 26,000 New Office 2007 High
Lance Mars
Burns Bros Inc. Properties 4 blocks in CES 2010+ High
Bruce Burns
Walt Pelett Properties 5 blocks in CES 2010+ High
Walt Pelett     
514 SE Belmont St 54,000 New 2010+ High
Mike Bolliger   Units TBD
Grand Central Building  808 SE Morrison St
John Plew, Concept Entertainment


18 East of Grand Central 175,000 $60 million New Retail / Office / 2010+ Low
John Plew, Concept Entertainment Residential
Burger King  1525 SE Grand Ave $12 million
Joe Angel, Pacific Star


20 OMSI  1945 SE Water Ave 200,000 $79 million New Institutional 2012+ High
Pat LaCrosse (phase I)
TOTALS 3,529,100 $1,229 million


2007 Low


19 40,000 New Office / Retail 2010+ High


17 37,600 $11.5 million Rehab


15 Has considered offers for holdings


16 Retail / 
Residential


$19 million


Retail


Office 2010+ High


14 Have long-term leases in place but have also been working with 
architects and feasibility consultants. 


12 33,500 $9.7 million Rehab


$5.5 million


2010 High


11 $200 million Office/ Retail / 
Residential


2010+ High


10 35,000 $10.5 million Office / 
Residential


2009 High


9 $180 million New Hotel 2010+ High


7 274,000 $82 million Residential


2010+Residential


$15 million


High


5


6 $120 million Office / Retail 2010 Medium


4 125,000 $36 million


Office / Retail 2007 High


3 20,000 $4.5 million Rehab Office / Retail 2007 High


2 66,000 $14.9 million Rehab


$70 million Rehab Office / Retail


Potential 
ValueProject Name


Square 
Feet


1
Use Timing


Streetcar 
Dependence


2010+ High


 


Source: Development representatives; E. D. Hovee & Company, LLC.  
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Figure 23. Mapped Eastside Projects 
 
 


 
 


 
Planned Projects Key  
 
1  Blanchard Building 
2  Left Bank 
3  1618 N Vancouver Ave 
4  Bee Car Rental 
5  Old Rosary Housing Site 
6  Schlesinger Holdings 
7  Cosmopolitan Tower 
8  Urban Village 
9  Westin Convention Center Hotel 
10 Rich’s Deli 
11 Burnside Bridgehead 
12 United Finance 
13 Bside6 
14 Burns Brothers Inc. Properties 
15 Walt Pelett Properties 
16 514 SE Belmont St 
17 Grand Central Building 
18 East of Grand Central 
19 Burger King 
20 OMSI 


Source: City of Portland, development representatives, E. D. Hovee & Company, LLC.   
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.   


4. If Eastside Neighborhoods Mirror Westside Development Response, Eastside 
Development will Increase 65%. In 2005, an aspirational projection through 2025 was 
created for the proposed eastside alignment in which the rate and intensity of development 
mirrored that experienced along the westside alignment. The result was a 65% increase in the 
Central Eastside (CES) building stock and a 310% increase in the number of housing units 
anticipated. Details of the projection are summarized in the following table.10  


Figure 24. Westside Development Experience Extrapolated to Eastside 


 


Source: City of Portland, E. D. Hovee & Company, LLC.  


The key ingredients in this Central Eastside development scenario were: 


1. The westside track record of post-streetcar development trends;  
2. Zoned FAR limits within the Central Eastside, and  
3. Extent of existing development within the Central Eastside. 


The zoned capacity of the CES is significant; its existing building stock is not. Applying 
westside experience – the percent of zoned FAR achieved by block from streetcar and the rate of 
development as a percentage of the existing building stock – to the CES produces an aspirational 
projection of over 5 million square feet of development that might be achieved within this 
district.  


5. Eastside Development Forecasts Attribute 30-40% of Future Development 
Activity to Streetcar Investment. Two market studies have been completed for the eastside 
extension of the Portland Streetcar Loop project which provide a contextualized alternative to the 
aspirational projection summarized below.  


Central Eastside Forecast: Development within the southern portion of the eastside 
extension – the Central Eastside Urban Renewal Area – was forecast in May 2007 May 2007 to 
inform tax revenue projections for the Central Eastside Urban Renewal Area.11 This alternative 
forecast scenario was prepared for the more immediate purpose of issuing tax increment bonds 
based on a conservative estimate of future tax revenue growth. The long-term aspirational 
methodology for the entire eastside was accordingly modified to reflect a more conservative, 
bankable approach.  


Distance 
from 
streetcar


Land SF in 
redevelopment 


lots (2004)


Building SF in 
redevelopment 


lots (2004)


2007-2025 
annual 


building 
dev.


Added 
building SF 


by 2025


Avg. 
zoned 


FAR


% of FAR 
realized 


2007-
2025


Land dev’d 
(SF) by 2025


Percent of 
land area 


vacant 
2025* 


1 Block 6,074,000               5,053,000                5.8% 4,752,000     5.9        90% 886,000        11%
2 Blocks 1,923,000               1,862,000                1.7% 429,000        5.1        74% 114,000        26%
3 Blocks 785,000                  512,000                   1.2% 71,000          3.8        62% 30,000          29%
3+ Blocks 707,000                  687,000                   1.0% 51,000          5.3        43% 22,000          16%
Total 9,489,000               8,114,000                2.0% 5,303,000     -       1,052,000     16%
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This modified approach was rooted in the specifics of the Central Eastside neighborhood, and 
also involved estimating prospective impacts of streetcar investment in isolation from other 
development influences. Key ingredients of this forecast were:  


• ‘Baseline’ redevelopment trends covering documented activity over the past nine years 
were calculated from Multnomah County tax assessor records; 


• The anticipated value and timing of known projects – both significant and planned, in the 
nomenclature of this report – were then layered onto baseline trend development; and 


• A ‘streetcar premium’ was then estimated to reflect current market conditions with the 
addition of streetcar investment. This premium was the subjective assessment of 
economic development professionals familiar with the performance of the planned 
streetcar corridor over the past half decade. It reflects the most likely scale, land use type, 
volume and location of new investment along the corridor (for which a track record has 
not yet been established) should the corridor achieve a tipping point at which new 
construction can be supported.  


• Two forecast scenarios were modeled, conservative and aggressive. The conservative 
scenario assumes no public involvement in supporting adjacent development. The 
aggressive scenario is predicated on additional public investment in traffic calming, 
streetscape improvements and development agreements along the alignment, to create the 
best possible pedestrian environment along the corridor (a key precursor to westside 
development along the alignment).12   


Key conclusions of the 2007 market-based optimal investment/aggressive forecast are:  


• Approximately 18% of projected investment in building renovation (much of which is 
already underway) can be attributed to streetcar investment; 


• Up to 45% of projected investment in new commercial construction can be attributed to 
streetcar investment; and   


• Up to half of projected new residential construction can be attributed to streetcar 
investment – an arena where streetcar clearly makes a difference based on westside 
experience.  


Details of the Central Eastside urban renewal forecast scenarios are included with the following 
table.  
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Figure 25. Central Eastside Development Projections May 2007 
 Commercial SF Housing  
 Rehabilitated New Units Notes 
Conservative Scenarios    


a) Trend     2,325,000                -               -   Continuation of observed trends 
b) Bridgehead                -   487,500           150 3 towers, reduced by 25% 
c) Planned Projects                -   334,000           474 Plans delayed, reduced 
d) Streetcar         512,000  480,000             -   Office/flex construction only 
Total     2,837,000  1,301,500           624  


Subtotal w/o Streetcar          2,325,482            821,500 624 a + b + c 
% Attributed to Streetcar 18% 37% 0% d as percent of total 
Aggressive Scenarios    


a) Trend     2,325,000                -               -   Trend scenario remains unchanged 
b) Bridgehead                -   650,000           200 As profiled by PDC – value of increased 


density attributed to streetcar 
c) Planned Projects                -   354,000           713 As profiled by developers – value of increased 


density attributed to streetcar 
d) Streetcar         512,000  480,000           270 Commercial + housing with enhanced 


investment 
Total     2,837,000  1,484,000        1,183  


  Attributed to Streetcar            512,405            662,500 559 Total of basic streetcar plus related public 
investment enhancements 


% Attributed to Streetcar 18% 45% 47%  
Source: E. D. Hovee & Company, LLC Central Eastside Development Scenarios, May 2007.  


When projected development is reported in terms of market value, the total estimated value for 
the aggressive scenario is $994 million (in 2007 dollars). Thirty percent of the projected square 
footage is attributed to streetcar’s influence; if an equivalent share of the projected value is 
attributed to streetcar the result is $298 million in development associated with streetcar 
investment.13  


With an estimated total construction cost of $57 million for the CES portion of the streetcar 
alignment, the cost to benefit ratio according to this market-based development forecast is over 
5:1.  


Lloyd District Forecast: Lloyd District development was forecast in March 2008 for an area 
corresponding to roughly one-quarter mile around the planned alignment, totaling 305 acres 
within 930 taxlots. The bulk of the Lloyd District area considered is zoned RX, a dense, mixed-
use zone dominant in the Central City. Industrial zones are found north of the Broadway bridge 
and west of I-5, and along the river (corresponding to the rail tracks). The northernmost lots 
within this geography are in residential zoning.  


Lloyd District differs from the Central Eastside portion of the planned streetcar extension as it 
has seen fairly significant development activity (just over one million square feet) over the past 
10 years. In the following table, realized development trends have been projected forward to 
estimate development within a 20 year horizon in the absence of significant public investment in 
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the district such as highway, parks or streetcar infrastructure investment. Total added developed 
square footage within a future 20 year timeframe is approximately 2.2 million.  


Figure 26. Baseline Trend (1997-2007) & Development Projection (2008-2028) 
 Development Experienced (1997-2007) Base Projection (07-27) 


Building Type Buildings 
SF per 


Building Total SF 
Development 


% of Total 
# of 


Units 
Buildings In 


20 Years 
SF in 20 


Years 
 Low-rise commercial  8 6,300 50,600 5%                 16 101,200 
 Apartments  2 168,800 337,500 31% 150                  4 675,000 
 Hotel  1 147,300 147,300 14%                  2 294,600 
 Office  2 226,900 453,700 42%                  4 907,400 
 Condos  2 46,400 92,800 5% 50                  4 185,600 
 Total  15 72,127 1,081,900 100% 200                 30 2,163,800 


Source: Multnomah County Tax Assessor, E.D. Hovee & Company, LLC.   


As with the Central Eastside, projects in planning phase were then profiled, providing some 
detail on future development such as approximate size and use. Eight projects were profiled, 
totaling 2.5 million square feet as described by development representatives.  


Because development planning is not always realized, or realized at the pace or to the scale 
initially conceived, two versions of each project are suggested: an ‘as described’ version and a 
revised version, which reflects a more conservative build out. For projects without public sector 
involvement, a 50% reduction in size has been applied. For projects with public sector 
involvement – such as land ownership or anticipated project subsidy – a 25% reduction in size 
has been applied, reflecting the greater likelihood that projects with public backing and 
involvement come to fruition on the scale realized.  
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Figure 27. Known Lloyd District Planned Development Projects 


Project Name & 
Address 


Square 
Feet 


Est. 
Value Use Timing 


Streetcar 
Dependence 


Public 
– 


Private  


Revised 
SF 


Estimate  


Revised 
Value 


Estimate 
Blanchard Building   
501 N Dickson St  


348,000 $70 m Office / 
Retail 


2010+ High Yes 261,000 $52 m 


Bee Car Rental  
NE 1st Ave & Weidler 
Blvd 


125,000 $36 m Residential 2010+ High Yes   
93,750 


$27 m 


Old Rosary Housing Site  
NE Wasco & 2nd Ave 


50,000 $15 m Residential 2010+ High Yes   
37,500 


$11 m 


Schlesinger Holdings  
Blocks 47-49   


530,000 
(Phase I) 


$120 m Office / 
Retail 


2010 Medium No   
265,000 


$60 m 


Cosmopolitan Tower   
NE Grand & Holladay St 


274,000 $82 m Residential 2009 High No   
137,000 


$41 m 


Urban Village  
NE 
7th/9th/Holladay/Mult  


750,000 $300 m Office or 
Office/Res 


market High No   
375,000 


$150 m 


Westin Convention 
Center Hotel   
NE MLK & Holladay St 


400,000 
(Phase I) 


$180 m Hotel 2010+ High Yes   
300,000 


$135 m 


Rich's Deli  
430 NE Lloyd St  


35,000 $11 m Office / 
Residential 


2010 High No 17,500 $5 m 


Total 2,512,000 $814 m     1,486,750 $157 m 
  Housing 841,500 $288 m     464,500 $190 m 
  Commercial 1,270,500 $345 m     722,250 $135 m 
  Hotel 400,000 $180 m         300,000 $482 m 


Note: Square footage for the Urban Village and Rich’s Deli projects have been split between housing and 
commercial categories.  


Source: Development contacts, E.D. Hovee & Company, LLC.  


Not all of these planned projects – half of which are anticipated to occur beyond 2010 – may be 
realized, but they are considered representative of projects that may be undertaken in this district 
even if the responsibility is ultimately transferred to a different developer. The conservative 
version of these known projects has thus been considered as part of the base trend projection 
(from which 2.1 million square feet of development is anticipated over a 20 year period).  


How does anticipated district development projection change with the introduction of streetcar?  
The difference between the revised (conservative) and ‘as described’ version of known projects 
is considered the ‘streetcar premium,’ which brings development to a density that the market 
may not deliver to this area in the absence of streetcar investment. This streetcar premium is 
roughly 1 million square feet, an increase of 69% over the 1.49 million square feet of 
development encompassed within the more conservative outline of known projects.  


When this premium – 69% – is applied to the baseline trend (2.1 million square feet), total 
expected development increases to 3.65 million square feet. This translates into an annual square 
footage increase within the district of 1.9%, 0.8% of which is attributed to streetcar.  
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Figure 28.  Lloyd District Rate of Development With & Without Streetcar 
1 Baseline trend continuation over 20 years 2,163,800 
   
2 Full version of known projects 2,512,000 
3 Reduced version of known projects 1,486,800 
4 Difference: known projects SF attributed to 


streetcar 
1,025,300 


5 Percentage of SF attributed to streetcar 69% 
   
5 Total 20 year trend development + streetcar 


premium (69% increase) 
3,650,600 


7 Streetcar portion of total projected 
development 


1,486,800 


8 Existing district SF 9,800,700 
   
9 Annual Increase in SF 1.9% 
10 Annual Increase attributable to Streetcar 0.8% 
   
11 Full value of known projects $814 m 
12 Reduced version of known projects $482 m 
13 Difference: known projects value attributed to 


streetcar 
$331 m 


14 Streetcar value extrapolated to total district 
development (45% increase) 


$480 m 


Source: E.D. Hovee & Company, LLC.  


In effect, 40% of the composite Lloyd District market based development can be attributed to 
extension of the Portland Streetcar Loop with this forecast methodology. This composite 1.9% 
annual rate of development projected for the Lloyd District with streetcar is slightly below the 
2.0% rate actually experienced on Portland’s westside from 1997-2004. 


Likewise, a portion of the dollar value of new development the district experienced can be 
attributed to the extension of the Portland Streetcar Loop. For known projects alone, the 
streetcar-associated portion of development value is over $331 million. If this amount is 
increased by 45% (the difference between line 4 and line 7 in the above table), the total value of 
projected streetcar-associated development increases to $480 million. With an estimated project 
cost of $38 million, the development that this investment could leverage is over 13 times this 
amount.  


Figure 29. Cost:Value Estimates for Eastside Extension 


District Cost 
Development 


Value* 
Cost: Value 


Ratio 
Central Eastside $57,000,000    $298,000,000 5 
Lloyd District $38,000,000    $480,480,000 13 
All $95,000,000 $778,480,000 8 


Source: E.D. Hovee & Company, LLC.  
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D. PUBLIC INCENTIVES BEYOND TRANSIT ARE AVAILABLE  
Portland’s westside experience demonstrates the importance of public commitment to urban 
development through a myriad of approaches that reinforce and compliment streetcar investment. 
The tools available to encourage high density development along the proposed eastside 
alignment are summarized below.   


1. Public-Private Development Agreements. Development agreements were crucial to 
high density development along the westside alignment. For the Hoyt Street Properties’ original 
40 acres at the northern end of the westside alignment, density minimums were increased 
incrementally for three separate public investments: 1) removal of an overhead ramp that 
bisected the property, 2) choosing and constructing a streetcar alignment adjacent to Hoyt Street 
property, and 3) development of a park on land donated by Hoyt Street Properties. Hoyt Street 
Properties has stated that without the streetcar and the accessibility it provides, the densities 
achieved would not have been possible.  


On Portland’s eastside, there are currently two specific projects underway in which development 
agreements play a key role – the Burnside Bridgehead project (four acres) and the Convention 
Center Headquarters Hotel (two city blocks). These projects are detailed on page 28.  


Further development agreements are anticipated for at least a portion of properties within the 
Significant Development Areas depicted in Figure 10. In total, these areas represent close to 250 
acres that are either in consolidated ownership, public ownership or for which interest in high 
density development has been expressed by private property owners.  


2. Streetscape Investments. The City of Portland is committed to creating the pedestrian 
oriented environment along the alignment that best supports mixed use development at urban 
densities. Key to this is traffic calming measures which ensure frequent opportunities for 
pedestrian crossings. The Portland Streetcar Loop Project includes 41 new signalized crossings 
along the proposed 3.35 mile eastside alignment.  


Figure 30. New Signals Included in Streetcar Funding 


Streetcar Segment 
New 


Signals 
Pearl District (NW) 6 
Broadway Bridge to NE 1st 2 
NE 3rd - NE 7th 7 
NE Wasco - I-84 7 
NE Davis - SE Ankeny 8 
SE Stark - SE Clay 10 
SE Clay - OMSI 1 
Total 41 


Source: Portland Streetcar Loop Transportation Management Plan Draft, November 19 2007; E. D. Hovee & 
Company, LLC. 
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Additional priority streetscape investments include sidewalk improvements throughout the 
corridor (including street trees and eliminating driveways where possible), discouraging future 
auto oriented land uses, increasing pedestrian connections to the river and riverfront esplanade 
along four east-west streets, ensuring connections to the region’s bike networks, and improving 
trail systems within a greenspace that intersects the alignment.  


More significant aspirational streetscape investments include an additional I-84 auto crossing to 
reduce traffic congestion on the existing MLK and Grand north-south bridges and a park bridge 
across I-5 within the Lloyd District to connect residents with the river.  


3. Urban Renewal Districts. In Portland’s westside, Urban Renewal has been proven as a 
powerful tool in generating up-front funds for infrastructure investment, including park 
development and road improvements. The planned eastside alignment is also encompassed 
entirely by in-place Urban Renewal Districts, the most successful tool identified to date in 
generating redevelopment funds.14 (As is true elsewhere in the U.S., tax increment districts freeze 
collected tax revenue and direct future revenue growth to redevelopment projects for the lifetime 
of the district.)  


In Portland, tax increment funds can be used to support both streetcar construction and adjacent 
catalyst development projects. Three districts encompass the proposed completion of the 
Portland Streetcar Loop: 


• River District (Westside): The streetcar extension proposed at NW 10th and Lovejoy is 
in the middle of this westside district, which extends from the existing Portland Streetcar 
alignment to the proposed Willamette River streetcar crossing on the Broadway Bridge.  


• Convention Center (Eastside): This Urban Renewal District encompasses the proposed 
new alignment from the eastside of the Broadway Bridge, through the Lloyd District to 
the streetcar’s crossing of the I-84 freeway. Tax increment funds are planned for 
acquiring properties and supporting additional housing development, in addition to 
supporting streetcar construction.  


• Central Eastside: The time frame for this district was recently extended to allow support 
of the Burnside Bridgehead project and the Burnside Couch couplet (each further 
described below). District funding will also support streetcar construction. This district 
encompasses the remainder of the proposed eastside extension through its southern 
Willamette River crossing on the planned light rail bridge (north of the Ross Island 
Bridge), connecting back to the South Waterfront area on Portland’s westside.  
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Figure 31. Urban Renewal Areas 


 
Source: City of Portland.  


4. Burnside Street Investments. The Burnside Bridgehead project has been previously 
described in this report. This four-acre project can accommodate significant jobs and housing; 
current Phase I plans center on office and retail uses. Urban Renewal funds are currently 
allocated to incent maximium density at this pivotal site.  


The eastside Burnside-Couch couplet is a second project that will impact the Burnside vicinity, 
roughly the mid-point of the eastside alignment. The project will transform Burnside, a major 
traffic arterial, into a one-way street eastbound, while Couch (one block to the north) will carry 
westbound traffic.  
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Anticipated project benefits include:  


• A significantly improved pedestrian environment by providing curb extensions to narrow 
pedestrian crossing distances across Burnside Street, wider sidewalks, and traffic signals 
at all intersections;  


• A significantly improved biking environment, and reduced traffic conflicts between autos 
and bicycles, due to a striped bike lane; and 


• Enhanced vehicle and transit access and traffic flow through the realignment of Burnside 
and Couch Streets into a one-way couplet system between the Burnside Bridgehead 
project and E. 14th Avenue.  


Engineering for the couplet is underway as of January 2008. Construction is anticipated to begin 
in spring 2009 and be completed by summer 2010.  
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IIVV..    SSTTRREEEETTCCAARR--DDEEVVEELLOOPPMMEENNTT  BBEENNEEFFIITT  MMEETTRRIICCSS  
Based on this updated documentation of the streetcar-development nexus, the following benefit 
metrics are offered against which future Small Starts projects might be assessed. While drawn 
largely from Portland experience and projection, the metrics have broader national applicability 
as well: 


1. Density of New Development: Development experienced on Portland’s westside 
(between 1997 and 2004) has produced residential plus job densities estimated at YY 
persons per acre. Market based forecasts for the eastside indicate potential for ZZ persons 
per acre with streetcar extension.  


2. Return on Investment: Portland’s westside has captured a total redevelopment 
investment more than 24 times streetcar cost (through 2005). Market-based development 
projections have been prepared for the eastside, encompassing both the Central Eastside 
Urban Renewal Area and the portion of the Lloyd District within three blocks of the 
planned alignment. Anticipated value of added development attributed to streetcar 
investment is projected at $778 million versus streetcar project cost of $95 million, for an 
ROI of 8:1. 


3. Redevelopment Potential:  On Portland’s westside, approximately 37% of land area 
within three blocks of the streetcar alignment had improvements to land valuation ratio 
(pre-streetcar construction) of less than 0.5:1. For Portland’s eastside, a similar 37% of 
the proposed corridor extension is associated with a less than 0.5:1 ratio (as of 2007).  


4. Zoned Development Capacity: Westside development experienced post-streetcar to 
2004 within three block of the installed Portland Streetcar system has been three times 
the previously zoned capacity of development. For the proposed eastside extension, 
estimated development capacity within three blocks of the proposed alignment is more 
than six times existing square footage. 


5.  VMT Reduction: As the regional planning agency for the Portland metropolitan area, 
Metro has calculated that areas with good transit and mixed use experience 9.8 vehicle 
miles per day of travel per capita – compared with 21.8 miles per day for areas of the 
region without either good transit or mixed use. The per capita VMT reduction with 
streetcar-related development (both westside and eastside) is estimated at 55% compared 
with the suburban greenfield development alternative. 


6. Reduced Carbon Footprint: Preliminary evaluation consistent with VMT reduction 
and urban building efficiencies indicates an approximately 65% savings in transportation 
and development footprint for urban residential use and a 45% reduction for employment 
use compared to the suburban greenfield development alternative (both westside and 
eastside).  
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AAPPPPEENNDDIIXX  AA..  PPRREEPPAARREERRSS  PPRROOFFIILLEE  
E. D. Hovee & Company, LLC has served public, non-profit and private development clients 
both in and outside the Pacific Northwest since 1984. The firm has considerable experience in 
evaluating the nexus between transit and economic development. Within the Portland metro area, 
E. D. Hovee & Company has conducted transit-economic development assessments including: 


• Central Eastside URA development projections with and without streetcar for the 
Portland Development Commission (2007) 


• Portland Streetcar development impact analysis for Portland Streetcar Inc. (2005) 
• Evaluation of effects on business and property values of Portland Transit Mall 


refurbishment and light rail extension – including both long-term valuation and shorter 
term construction impact assessments (2004-2005) 


Both in and outside Portland’s Central City, E. D. Hovee & Company, LLC has been involved in 
a wide range of transit and economic development assessments including light rail impact and 
station area planning (east, north, west and south MAX/LRT corridors), associated smaller city 
development (at Gresham and Hillsboro LRT termini). Central City development assessments 
have been conducted in the Pearl, Old Town, Downtown core, West End, University, South 
Waterfront, Lloyd and Central Eastside Districts over the last 20+ years.  


Outside the Portland metro area, E. D. Hovee & Company, LLC has experience with urban 
redevelopment throughout the U.S. on behalf of cities, private firms and non-profit organizations 
such as the National Main Street Center and National Trust for Historic Preservation. The firm 
has conducted transit-economic development assignments in communities as diverse as West 
Orange (NJ), Santa Cruz (CA), SeaTac (WA), and Ketchikan (AK). 


This streetcar-development report has been prepared by Tess Jordan, Senior Economic Planner 
and Eric Hovee, Principal. 
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END NOTES 
                                                 
1  2005. Portland Streetcar Development Impacts, E. D. Hovee & Company, LLC.  
2  An FAR of 6.0:1 indicates that building square footage is six times land area of the site occupied.  
3  2005. The Cost of Congestion to the Economy of the Portland Region. Economic Development Research Group.  
4  2002. The Rise of the Creative Class: And how it’s Transforming Work, Leisure, Community and Everyday Life. 


Richard Florida.   
5  2004. The Young and the Restless: How Portland Competes for Talent. Joe Cortright and Carol Coletta. 


www.Restlessyoung.com/public/pdf/Portland.pdf  
6  A floor area ratio (FAR) is defined as building square footage divided by square footage of land (or site) area.  
7  Larger scale maps for each station and vicinity are available; see City of Portland Comprehensive Plan 


Designations.  
8  Data for improvements to land valuation is available in most communities using tax assessor data. While not all 


tax assessments reflect 100% of market value, the analysis is useful so long as land and improvements are 
assessed in a similar ratio to market, or if varying ratios can be adjusted to a similar proportion of market.  


9  Excluded from the analysis are lots identified as having individual condominium units (an estimated 6,753 tax 
lots) as full assessor’s information pre- and post-development is not available. Analysis is preliminary and 
subject to refinement based on further evaluation of pre-1997 and 2004 data sets. 


10  2005. Portland Streetcar Development Impacts, E. D. Hovee & Company, LLC. 
11  2007. Central Eastside Development Scenarios, May 27, 2007, E. D. Hovee & Company, LLC. 
12  Development projections were itemized and isolate the impact of the Burnside Bridgehead project, the 


remaining planned projects (in May this included only six projects, versus the 20 identified for this report) and 
streetcar investment. For the conservative scenario, the density of development assumed for the Burnside 
Bridgehead and planned projects was decreased from developer reports by 25-50%.  


In the aggressive scenario, projects are assumed to move forward at the full density envisioned by developers. 
The increase in density – the difference between the conservative and aggressive scenarios – has been attributed 
to streetcar (and accompanying traffic calming measures) as the catalyst that will propel the Central Eastside 
District to densities beyond what the market is currently delivering. 


13  Investment values are estimated in nominal (current) dollars rather than future inflated and/or discounted 
dollars. 


14  The two eastside urban renewal areas are Central Eastside and Oregon Convention Center (OCC). As OCC is 
being sunsetted, it currently does not have the ability to participate in or benefit from the stimulus of added 
private investment.  
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Map of Reinvestment Zone Number Eleven 
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Mission Statement 
 
The mission of the Downtown Connection Tax Increment Financing District is to create 
a fund for public capital improvements in the core of Downtown essential for 
development of key spaces and buildings as well as focusing on catalyst projects to 
create a greater density and critical mass of development within the Main Street core 
area. 
 
The Downtown Connection TIF District was initiated by petition, pursuant to Section 
311.005 (a)(5), Texas Tax Code through the sponsorship of the Downtown 
Improvement District and the Uptown Improvement District.  The Downtown Connection 
TIF District took effect on June 8, 2005 per Ordinance No. 26020 and is scheduled to 
terminate on December 31, 2035 (including collections of the 2035 increment in 
calendar year 2036 or when the budget of $189.8 million (2006 dollars) has been 
collected. 
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District Accomplishments 
 
FY 2008 saw construction continue on key projects throughout both the Downtown Core 
and the Uptown portions of the Downtown Connection TIF District. 
 
Within the Downtown Core, renovations continued on the Mercantile Block.  New 
downtown residents began leasing apartments in the completed Mercantile Tower. 
Construction on the new apartment building, the Dallas Building, was 90% completed 
by September 30, 2008, and is expected to open in Spring 2009.  The total investment 
in the Mercantile Complex is expected to exceed $135 million.   
 
Construction was completed on the 400,000 square foot Hunt Headquarters (located 
at the southeast corner of Akard Street and Woodall Rodgers Expressway) and 1414 
Elm Street.      


Within the Uptown area (see map on page 6), the Azure 
condominium project, 1900 McKinney (Hanover) were completed 
as well as the expansion and renovations to the Historic 
Stoneleigh Hotel.  Construction continued on 2000 McKinney 
Avenue, Rosewood Court, Alta Rosewood and the Ritz-Carlton 
Condo Residences II.  
 
Formerly announced projects such as, Park 
Seventeen/ 17Seventeen McKinney 
(Granite/Gables), AMLI/Quadrangle, St. 
Anne’s Court, and Two Arts Plaza began 


construction.  In addition, several new projects were announced 
including, Akard Place and Redd Development.  
 
 


The construction began on Main 
Street Garden Park which is 
located immediately east of and 
adjacent to the Mercantile Complex.  Further planning, 
design work and land  acquisition related to the 
development Belo Garden Park (located along Griffin 
Street between Main and Commerce Streets), Pacific 
Plaza Garden Park (located along Pacific Avenue 
between St. Paul and Harwood Streets), and the 
Woodall Rodgers Deck Park which is designed to 
improve the connection between the Central Business 


District and Uptown.  
 
Development in the Downtown Connection TIF District has been consistent and 
continues along with other factors to position the District for future growth.   The TIF 
District Board of Directors and Office of Economic Development staff continued 
communications with developers regarding proposed redevelopment and investment 
projects within the Downtown Connection TIF District.  
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Map of Projects within the Downtown Connection TIF District 
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Downtown Connection TIF District Projects1 


Projects Within TIF District Utilizing TIF Funding 


Project Location Calendar Year 
Complete Status Units/ SF2 Approx. Value3 TIF Investment4 


Stoneleigh Hotel 2927 Maple 1st Quarter 
2008 Completed 17 additional hotel 


rooms $23,800,000 $2,500,000 


Mercantile Block  
Main and 


Commerce 
Streets 


4th Quarter 
2008 Under Construction 366 res. units; 


40,000 sf retail  $135,000,000 $60,500,000 


Santa Fe Lofts IV 1033 Young 
Street 


4th Quarter 
2009 Under Construction 170 hotel rooms; 


4,000 sf retail $21,600,000 $4,296,264 


Butler Brothers 
Building 500 S. Ervay 3rd Quarter 


2010 Approved 400 res. units, 
45,000 sf retail $49,000,000 $15,000,000 


1600 Pacific 
Avenue 


1600 Pacific 
Avenue 


4th Quarter 
2010 Approved 307 res. units; 


26,190 sf retail 
 


$64,00,000 $15,908,777 


Continental 
Building 


1810 Commerce 
Street 


3rd Quarter 
2011 Announced 140 res. units; 


9,000 sf retail $46,000,000 $10,000,000 


Tower Petroleum  1900 Pacific/ 
1907 Elm Street 


4th Quarter 
2011 Approved 


125 hotel rooms, 
approx 130 res. 


units,  
  6,500 sf retail 


$90,000,000 $12,000,000 


Atmos Complex Harwood and 
Wood Streets 


2nd Quarter 
2013 Announced 202 res. units; 


5,000 sf retail TBD $0 


                                                                                                 Subtotal 
1,545 res. units; 
312 hotel rooms; 
135,690 sf retail 


$365,400,000 $120,205,041 


Projects Within TIF District Not Utilizing TIF Funding5 


Project Location Calendar Year 
Complete Status Units/ SF Approx. Value Non- TIF 


Incentives 


Ashton 2215 Cedar 
Springs Road 2006 Completed 267 res. units $104,000,000 $0 


Trianon (Zom/ 
Rosewood) 


2820 McKinnon 
Street 


3rd Quarter 
2006 Completed 335 res. units $25,321,500 $0 


Uptown Plaza 
Shopping I 


2212 McKinney 
Avenue 


3rd Quarter 
2006 Completed 84,000 sf retail $12,600,000 $0 


Hunt Consolidated 1900 Akard 
Street 


2nd Quarter 
2007 Completed 400,000 sf office $108,000,000 $6,3000,000 


Ritz-Carlton Hotel & 
Condos 


2510 Cedar 
Springs 


2nd Quarter 
2007 Completed 70 res. units 


216 hotel rooms $86,950,000 $0 


Third Rail Lofts 
(1414 Elm portion) 1414 Elm Street 3rd Quarter 


2007 Completed 14 res. units; 3,500 
sf retail $4,100,000 $1,800,000 


Azure 2919 Pearl 
Street 


2nd Quarter 
2008 Completed 202 res. units $55,100,000 $0 


Ritz-Carlton 
Residences II 


2001 McKinney 
Avenue 


4th Quarter 
2009 Under Construction 96 res. units $113,050,000 $0 


1900 McKinney 
(Hanover) 


1900 McKinney 
Avenue 


4th Quarter 
2008 Completed 230 res. units $60,000,000 $0 


Stoneleigh  Condos 2927 Maple 
Street 


4th Quarter 
2008 Under Construction 110  res. units $80,000,000 $0 


Rosewood Court 2101 Cedar 
Springs Road 


2nd Quarter 
2009 Under Construction 400,000 sf office,  


12,000 sf retail $150,000,000 $0 


Alta Rosewood 2806 McKinnon 
Street 


4th Quarter 
2008 Under Construction 375 res. units $72,000,000 $0 


AMLI/ Quadrangle 2717 Howell 
Street 


4th Quarter 
2008 Under Construction 220 res. units $40,000,000 $0 


St. Ann’s Court 2515 Harwood 
Street 


1st Quarter 
2010 Under Construction 320,000 sf office $100,000,000 $0 







Exhibit A 
Downtown Connection TIF District  FY 2008 Annual Report 


 
 8  
  


Lincoln/ Corrigan 2000 McKinney 
Avenue 


2nd Quarter 
2009 Under Construction 


445,000 sf office, 
15 res. units, 
 6,500 sf retail 


$120,000,000 $0 


Project Location Calendar Year 
Complete Status Units/ SF Approx. Value Non- TIF 


Incentives 


Granite/Gables Cedars Springs/ 
Akard/ Caroline 


2nd Quarter 
2010 Under Construction 296 res. units, 


330,000 s.f. office $200,000,000 $0 


511 N. Akard 511 N. Akard 
Street 


4th Quarter 
2009 Under Construction 209 res. units $35,000,000 $11,000,000 


Akard Place 
(Phase I) 


Cedars Springs/ 
Akard/ Field 


4th Quarter 
2010 Announced 


150,000 sf office, 
80 res. units, 


150-room hotel, 
200,000 sf retail 


$300,000,000 $0 


Akard Place 
(Phase II) 


Cedars Springs/ 
Akard/ Field  Announced 400,000 sf. office $100,000,000 $0 


Museum Tower 800 Olive Street 4th Quarter 
2010 Announced 125 res. units $200,000,000 $0 


      Subtotal 
2,629 res. units; 
366 hotel rooms; 
306,000 sf retail 


2,445,000 sf office 
$1,966,121,500 $75,800,000 


Projects Utilizing and Not Utilizing TIF Funding 


   Total 
4,174 res. units; 
678 hotel rooms; 
441,690 sf retail; 


2,445,000 sf office 


$2,331,521,500 $196,005,041 


1 All information updated as of September 30, 2008.  
2 Based upon either the TIF application or required minimum stated in the development agreement. May be updated for completed projects based on 
actual unit mix and square footage.  
3 Based upon 1) market value of comparable projects for anticipated projects, 2) private investment stated in the development agreement for projects that 
are approved or under construction, or 3) DCAD market value for completed projects (unless project has not yet been assessed). Values may not be fully 
captured by the TIF District for redevelopment projects once pre-existing value and/or the demolition of structures is netted out. 
4 Principal amount not to be exceeded per the development agreement.  
5 Selected significant projects included.  
6 Tax-exempt property.  
7 Includes other incentives not shown. Contact City of Dallas Office of Economic Development for more information. 
8The Atmos Complex is contemplated as part of the development agreement with Forest City.  No addition Project details are known at this time. 


 
 


Value and Increment Revenue Summary 
 
The base value of the zone is the total appraised value of all taxable real property in the 
District as determined by the Dallas Central Appraisal District in the certified roll for 
2005 with adjustments made to accommodate boundary amendments.  The Downtown 
Connection TIF District's adjusted assessed 2005 tax value of $561,696,137 represents 
the base value for the District.  The Downtown Connection TIF District’s 2008 assessed 
tax value was $1,541,454,353.  This represents an increase of $979,758,216 (174.4%) 
over the assessed value of the base year (2005).   
 
The total value increased by $552.4 million (55.9%) over the previous year.  This 
increase will result in an estimated collection of approximately $7,824,006 in 
incremental revenue for the Downtown Connection TIF District.    
 
  
 


 Development Goals and Objectives 
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The final Downtown Connection Project Plan and Reinvestment Zone Financing Plan 
was adopted in late 2005.  The following objectives and actions items set the framework 
for the planned improvements within the City Center TIF District: 
 


• Objective: Improve access between and within the Uptown and Downtown areas 
 


Action:  Design work and planning sessions began on the Woodall Rogers Deck 
Park.  In addition, plans to extend the McKinney Avenue trolley line into 
downtown were put into place.   


 
• Objective: Improve the image of the Downtown Connection Area 


 
Action: Installation of Phase II of the new pedestrian wayfinding signage system 
began.  New Parking wayfinding signage continued to be installed through the 
district.  


 
• Objective: Support redevelopment of the existing building supply 


 
Action: Of the nineteen on-going and/or announced projects, nine adaptive re-
uses of existing buildings that will add 1,754 residential units, 295 hotel rooms, 
135,690 square feet of retail and 320,000 square feet of office space. 


 
• Objective: Develop a more diverse mixture of land uses within the Downtown 


Connection Area 
 


Action: Projects announced, completed and/or underway within the district will 
contribute a minimum of 4,174 residential units; 678 hotel rooms; 441,690 square 
feet of retail; and 2,445,000 square feet of new Class “A” office space. 


 
• Objective: Increase open space and recreational opportunities in the Downtown 


Connection Area 
 


Action: Construction began on Main Street Gardens.  Planning and land 
acquisition continued on the two additional priority parks within the Central 
Business District:  Belo Gardens and Pacific Gardens.  Plans for the Woodall 
Rogers Deck Over Park connecting the Central Business District to Uptown also 
continued during the reporting period. 


 
• Objective: Incentivize catalyst project(s) to accelerate reaching a critical mass of 


residential units, retail establishments, and public amenities for a vibrant 
downtown  


 
Action: Construction on the Mercantile Tower was completed and construction on 
the new building, the Dallas building was more than 90% completed.  When 
completed, this catalyst project will consist of 366 residential units and 40,000 
square feet of retail within the Main Street core. 
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Year-End Summary of Meetings 
 
The Downtown Connection TIF District Board Members are (FY 2008 meetings 
attended): Myron Mims – Chair (5 of 6 meetings), Dan Blizzard (4 of 6 meetings), 
Larry Good (4 of 6 meetings), John Zogg (2 of 6 meetings), Shelle Sills (5 of 6 
meetings), Sheryl Pickens (4 of 4 meetings),  Dan Savage – Dallas County 
Representative (4 of 6 meetings), Hollis Brashear – State Senator Royce West 
Representative, (4 of 6 meetings) Gina Norris – Texas House of Representatives Dan 
Branch Representative (6 of 6 meetings). 


There are nine appointed seats on the Downtown Connection TIF District Board of 
Directors.  Currently there is one vacant seat. During FY 2008, the Downtown 
Connection TIF District Board of Directors held six meetings. 
 
During the subject period, the City Council approved seventeen items associated with 
the Downtown Connection TIF District.  Those items included:   
 


Resolution Number 07-3698/ Ordinance Number 27032 – December 12, 
2007 - An ordinance amending the Project Plan and Reinvestment Zone 
Financing Plan (Plans) for Tax Increment Financing Reinvestment Zone 
Number Eleven, (Downtown Connection TIF District) in accordance with the Tax 
Increment Financing Act, (V.T.C.A. Tax Code, Chapter 311), to (1) provide for 
the Affordable Housing Program requiring Downtown Connection TIF District 
funded projects to set aside ten percent of the units as affordable and specifying 
alternatives to providing such units within the TIF funded project, (2) reprogram 
$2,500,000 from the Park and Plaza Design and Acquisition budget line item to 
a new budget line item for Retail Initiative/Streetscape Improvements, (3) 
expand the use of TIF funds for grants, in accordance with the Downtown 
Connection TIF District Grant Program and Criteria, and for affordable housing 
assistance, (4) correct the principal amount of bonds sold from $65 million to 
$66 million, and (5) update Exhibits G, H and J, Appendix A, and modify the 
Plan to reflect 2007 property values and adjusted base year value - Financing: 
No cost consideration to the City  
 
Resolution Number 07-3783 – December 12, 2007Authorize amendments to 
Resolution No. 06-2441, previously approved on September 13, 2006, and 
Resolution No. 07-1307, previously approved on April 25, 2007, for the 
redevelopment of the Santa Fe IV building located at 1033 Young Street in the 
Downtown Connection TIF District to (a) reduce the required number of hotel 
rooms from 190 to 170, (b) redefine the meeting and retail space to require 
8,000 square feet of meeting space, including a lounge/bar (c) approve the use 
of a lounge/bar as meeting the conditional use category, (d) extend the date to 
obtain a building permit and the date to complete construction, each by six 
months, (e) increase the private investment from $20,000,000 to $21,600,000, 
(f) characterize a portion of the TIF subsidy as grants in accordance with the 
Downtown Connection TIF District Grant Program and Criteria, subject to City 
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Council approval, and (g) allow the Office of Economic Development Director to 
authorize adjustments to the project contingencies should reasonable 
adjustments be needed and supported by additional consideration - Financing: 
No cost consideration to the City   
 
Resolution Number 07-3784 – December 12, 2007Authorize Supplemental 
Agreement No. 1 to the Development Agreement with Pacific 2004 Holdings, 
Ltd., for the development and redevelopment of the Tower Petroleum Building 
located at 1907 Elm Street and 1900 Pacific Avenue in Tax Increment Financing 
Reinvestment Zone Eleven (Downtown Connection TIF District) to extend the 
required deadline for the public announcement of a hotel brand and execution of 
a contract with the hotel brand for the Tower Petroleum Building from December 
13, 2007 to March 31, 2008, without penalty to the priority payment - Financing: 
No cost consideration to the City  
 
Resolution Number 07-3785 – December 12, 2007 -  Subject to City Council 
approval of certain Downtown Connection TIF District Project and Financing 
Plan amendments, authorize (1) a development agreement with 1600 Pacific 
Partners, No. 1, L.P. , to provide funding for the redevelopment of 1600 Pacific 
Avenue located in Tax Increment Financing Reinvestment Zone Eleven 
(Downtown Connection TIF District), and, (2) the Downtown Connection TIF 
District Board of Directors to dedicate future tax increment revenue of the 
Downtown Connection TIF District in an amount not to exceed the lesser of (a) 
25 percent of the added DCAD value one year after project completion on 1600 
Pacific Avenue plus $4,000,000 for additional assistance for affordable housing 
development, or (b) $15,908,777 - Not to exceed $15,908,777 - Financing: 
Downtown Connection TIF District Funds 
  
Resolution Number 07-3785 – December 12, 2007 - A resolution declaring the 
intent of Tax Increment Financing District Reinvestment Zone Number Eleven 
(Downtown Connection TIF District) to reimburse 1600 Pacific Partners, No. 1, 
L.P., for eligible expenditures pursuant to the development agreement with 1600 
Pacific Partners, No. 1, L.P. - Financing: No cost consideration to the City 
  
Resolution Number 07-3175 – October 24, 2007 - Authorize an additional 
payment to the Texas Department of Transportation for the City's share of 
design and construction costs for the paving and drainage improvements on 
Motor Street from Harry Hines Boulevard to Maple Avenue - $1,180,000 – 
Financing:  1998 Bond Funds ($314,623), 2003 Bond Funds ($265,377) and 
Capital Projects Reimbursement Funds ($600,000) 
 
Resolution Number 08-0650 – February 27, 2008 - A resolution accepting the 
FY 2007 Annual Report on the status of Tax Increment Financing Reinvestment 
Zone Number Eleven, (Downtown Connection TIF District), submitted by the 
Downtown Connection TIF District's Board of Directors, and authorizing the City 
Manager to submit the annual report to the other taxing jurisdictions which 
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participate in the District, and to the Attorney General of Texas, and the State 
Comptroller, as required by state law - Financing: No cost consideration to the 
City 
 
Resolution Number 08-0658 – February 27, 2008 - Authorize a contract with 
Dallas CBD Enterprises, Inc. (d/b/a DowntownDallas, Inc.) for an amount not to 
exceed $270,000 for the construction, installation and management of 
installation of enhanced fencing along commercial surface parking lots, in Tax 
Increment Financing Reinvestment Zone Eleven (Downtown Connection TIF 
District) - Not to exceed $270,000 - Financing: Downtown Connection TIF 
District Funds 
 
Resolution Number 08-1278 – April 23, 2008 - Authorize a professional 
services contract with EJES, Inc. for engineering design services for the 
reconstruction of Pearl Street from Commerce Street to Live Oak Street - 
$274,058 - Financing:  2006 Bond Funds ($264,713) and Water Utilities Capital 
Construction Funds ($9,345) 
  
Resolution Number 08-1396 – May 14, 2008 - Ratify an emergency purchase 
for maintenance and repair of the cooling tower at the Dallas Museum of Art 
located at 1901 North Harwood Street - Trane, U.S., Inc. only bidder  - Not to 
exceed $93,644 - Financing: Current Funds  
 
Resolution Number 08-1541 – May 28, 2008 - Authorize an Interlocal 
Agreement with the Texas Department of Transportation for the City's share of 
right-of-way acquisition and utility relocations for proposed paving 
improvements at the intersections of Pearl Street at Woodall Rodgers, Olive 
Street at Woodall Rodgers, and Pearl Street at Flora Street - Not to exceed 
$20,000 – Financing: 2003 Bond Funds 
 
Resolution 08-1587 – May 28, 2008  – Authorize (1) the payment of General 
Obligation Homeless Bond funds to the Central Dallas Community Development 
Corporation for partial rehabilitation costs in connection with the CityWalk @ 
Akard Project located at 511 North Akard in exchange for the development of 50 
units to be deed restricted for homeless and chronically homeless persons for a 
period of 30 years; and (2) an amendment to Resolution No. 07-1595, 
previously approved on May 23, 2007 to increase the number of units for the 
CityWalk @ Akard Project from 194 to 200 - Not to exceed $1,500,000 - 
Financing:  2005 Bond Funds  


 
Resolution Number 08-1900 – June 25, 2008 - Authorize (1) an Interlocal 
Agreement with the North Central Texas Council of Governments for design and 
construction of the Woodall Rodgers cross street sidewalk and transportation 
infrastructure improvements from Akard Street to Pearl Street; (2) the receipt 
and deposit of funds from the North Central Texas Council of Governments in 
an amount not to exceed $450,000; and (3) an increase in appropriations in the 
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amount of $450,000 in the Capital Projects Reimbursement Fund - Not to 
exceed $450,000 - Financing:  Capital Projects Reimbursement Funds 
 
Resolution Number 08-1801 – June 25, 2008 - Authorize (1) adoption of the 
preliminary FY 2007-08 Consolidated Plan Reprogramming Budget #4 to 
reprogram $1,000,000 of the Downtown Mortgage Assistance Program to the 
Mortgage Assistance Program and (2) a public hearing to be held on August 13, 
2008 to receive comments on the proposed use of funds – Financing:  No cost 
consideration to the City  
 
Resolution Number 08-1896 – June 25, 2008 - Authorize an amendment to 
Resolution Nos. 06-0963, previously approved on March 28, 2006 and 07-1595, 
previously approved on May 23, 2007 and 07-3008, previously approved on 
October 10, 2007, to extend the deadline from June 30, 2008 to July 31, 2008 
for execution and closing the Residential Development Acquisition Loan 
Program acquisition loan for the partial acquisition and related soft costs in 
connection with the City Walk at Akard project - Financing: No cost 
consideration to the City 
 
Resolution Number 08-2252 – August 27, 2008 - An ordinance granting a 
private license to FC Merc Complex, L.P. for the purpose of installing and 
maintaining a projecting attached sign above a portion of Main Street right-of-
way located near its intersection with Ervay Street - Revenue: $1,000 annually 
plus the $20 ordinance publication fee 
 
Resolution Number 08-02263– August 27, 2008 - Authorize (1) a contract for 
the construction of the Main Street Garden Park consisting of a food concession 
pavilion and outdoor dining terrace, fountain, off-leash dog run, playground, 
shelters, lighting, landscaping, irrigation, signage, sidewalks, trails, and public 
art - Gilbert May, Inc. dba Phillips/May Corporation, best value proposer of two; 
(2) the receipt and deposit of funds in the amount of $200,000 in the Capital 
Gifts, Donation and Development Fund; and, (3) an increase in appropriations in 
the amount of $200,000 in the Capital Gifts, Donation and Development Fund - 
Not to exceed $8,019,937 - Financing: 1998 Bond Funds ($195,139), 2003 
Bond Funds ($671,860) and 2006 Bond Funds ($7,152,938) 
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Budget and Spending Status 
 
The Downtown Connection TIF District’s budget for public improvement expenditures is 
necessary to support private investment in the district in the Project Plan and 
Reinvestment Zone Financing Plan. The final plan estimates for TIF public 
improvements total approximately $189.8 million (in 2006 dollars).  The final, amended 
budget for the district is as follows: 
 
 


Plan Budget 


 


 


Downtown Connection TIF District 
Projected Increment Revenues to Retire TIF Fund Obligations 


 


Category TIF Budget* Allocated Balance 
Catalyst Projects: - Environmental 
remediation, demolition, historic façade, 
restoration,  street/utility improvements 
& streetscape improvements, land 
acquisition, and non project costs, 
including, but not limited to machinery, 
equipment, materials and supplies 


$68,000,000 $68,000,000 $0 


Redevelopment of 
Vacant/Underutilized Downtown 
Buildings - Environmental remediation, 
interior/exterior demolition, historic 
façade restoration, street/utility 
improvements land acquisition, TIF 
grants, affordable housing 


$84,442,977 $49,705,041 $34,737,936 


Uptown/Downtown connection 
improvements $38,045,367 $20,500,000 $17,545,367 


Park and plaza design and 
acquisition $2,783,807 $1,500,000 $1,283,807 


Affordable Housing $5,567,615 $3,000,000 $2,567,615 


Retail Initiative/Streetscape 
Improvements $4,639,679 $2,500,000 $4,639,679 


Administration and implementation $7,312,850 $3,940,386 $3,372,464 


Debt Service (Interest Only) $150,363,000 $150,363,000 $0 


Total Project Costs $361,155,295 $299,508,427 $61,646,868 


*Budget shown above in current dollars; TIF Project Plan shows the budget in net present value.  
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Downtown Connection TIF Participation 


Participation 
Jurisdictions 


Duration of TIF 
District 


Estimated TIF 
Collection Period 


Participation 
Level 


Contribution to 
TIF Fund 


City of Dallas 2006 -2035 30 years 90% $332,599,511 


Dallas County 2006 -2035 20 years 55% $28,555,784


TOTAL    $361,155,295
All values are expressed in current dollars, except where noted.  The legal TIF life will be set at 30 years.  
TIF collection began in 2006.  Actual collections period may vary. 


 


Downtown Connection TIF District 
Plan Budget 


 


Category Budget in 2006 
Dollars 


Budget in Actual, 
Anticipated Dollars  


Catalyst Projects: - Environmental remediation, 
demolition, historic façade, restoration,  street/utility 
improvements & streetscape improvements, land 
acquisition, and non project costs, including, but not 
limited to machinery, equipment, materials and 
supplies 


$68,000,000 $68,000,000 
 


 
 
 
 


Redevelopment of Vacant/Underutilized 
Downtown Buildings - Environmental remediation, 
interior/exterior demolition, historic façade 
restoration, street/utility improvements land 
acquisition, TIF grants, affordable housing 


$90,367,206 $84,442,977  


Uptown/Downtown connection improvements $20,500,000 $38,045,367  


Park and plaza design and acquisition 
 


$1,500,000 
 


$2,783,807  


Affordable Housing  
$3,000,000 $5,567,615  


Retail Initiative/Streetscape Improvements $2,500,000 $4,639,679  


Administration and implementation  
$3,940,386 $7,312,850  


Debt Service (Interest Only)  $150,363,000  


Total Project Costs 
 


$189,807,592 
 


$361,155,295  


*Budget shown above in current dollars; TIF Project Plan shows the budget in net present value. 
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M/WBE Participation 


 
Public bidding is no longer required for TIF assisted projects.  However, privately bid 
projects are monitored to ensure they abide by the City’s Good Faith Effort Policy and 
the TIF District Fair Share Agreement.  Reporting is not required until project or 
benchmark completion.   
 


Bonds 
Project Issued To Bond Type(s) Principal Projected Interest 


Mercantile 


Downtown 
Dallas 


Development 
Authority 


Tax Increment Contract 
Revenue Bonds, Taxable 
Series 2006 – 30 years 


Amortization 


$50,605,343.00 $112,012,459 


Mercantile 


Downtown 
Dallas 


Development 
Authority 


Tax Increment Contract 
Revenue Bonds, Taxable 
Series 2007 – 30 years 


Amortization 


$28,628,541 $38,350,541 


 
 


FY 2009 Work Program 
 
The work items for FY 2009 for the Downtown Connection TIF District are as follows: 
 


• Increase the number of approved projects to achieve an additional 375 
residential units and 60,000 square feet of retail space started within the District. 


 
• Identify and support opportunities for improving physical connections between 


the Downtown Core and surrounding districts including the Convention Center, 
Uptown, Victory, the Cedars, and Deep Ellum neighborhoods. 


 
• Complete existing development projects. 


 
• Initiate the development of the Downtown Area Plan that will identify near-term 


and long-range redevelopment goals and strategies for the greater downtown 
environment.   
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District Financials 
 
 


City of Dallas, Texas
Downtown Connection Tax Increment Financing District Fund
Balance Sheet as of September 30, 2008
With Comparative Totals for September 30, 2007 and 2006


(Unaudited)


2008 2007 2006
Assets:
     Pooled cash and cash equivalents $304,786 $69,653 $46,857
     Interest receivable $0 $476 $380
     Taxes receivable-delinquent $55,352 $55,352 $0
      Less: allownace for uncollectible accounts ($19,373) ($19,373) $0


Total assets $340,765 $106,107 $47,238


Liabilities and Fund Balance (Deficit):
     Liabilities:
        Accounts and contracts payable $0 $0 $0
        Advances from developers $0 $0 $0
        Deferred tax revenue $35,979 $35,979 $0
        Due to genaral fund $0 $155,762 $0


Total liabilities $35,979 $191,741 $0


Fund Balance (Deficit):
Fund Balance (Deficit) $304,786 ($85,633) $47,238


Total Liabilities and Fund Equity $340,765 $106,108 $47,238


$0 $0 $0   
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Downtown Connection Tax Increment Financing District Fund
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance (Deficit)
For the Period September 30, 2008
With Comparative Totals for September 30, 2007 and 2006


(Unaudited)


ITD 2008 2007 2006
Revenues:
     Tax increment $0 $0 $0 $0
     Interest income $72,134 $37,516 $18,838 $15,780
    Other revenue $773,340 $725,834 $0 $47,506
     Net increase (decrease) in fair value of  investments $6,810 $0 $4,053 $2,758


Total revenues $852,284 $763,350 $22,891 $66,044


Expenditures:
     Administrative expenses $301,348 $145,586 $155,762 $0
     Non-Capital Outlay $18,806 $0 $0 $18,806
     Capital outlay $227,345 $227,345 $0 $0
     Interest and fiscal charges $0 $0 $0 $0


Total expenditures $547,498 $372,931 $155,762 $18,806


     Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues over Expenditures $304,786 $390,419 ($132,871) $47,238


Fund balance (Deficit) at beginning of year
   as previously reported $304,786 ($85,633) $47,238 $0


Fund balance (Deficit) at beginning of year,
   as restated $304,786 ($85,633) $47,238 $0


Fund balance (deficit) at end of year $304,786 $304,786 ($85,633) $47,238


Note: These unaudited financial statements are based on preliminary numbers and are subject to change. If these
numbers change, TIF board will be provided with the audited numbers after completion of the City's audit
 for fiscal year 2007-08.
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City of Dallas, Texas
Downtown Connection Tax Increment Financing District Fund
Cash Flow Statement for the Period Ended September 30, 2007
With Comparative Totals for September 30, 2007 and 2006


(Unaudited)


2008 2007 2006


Operating income (loss) $352,903 ($155,762) $28,700


Adjustments to rconcile operating income (loss)
to net cash provided by operating activities:


Changes in assets and liabilities:
     (Increase) decrease in interest receivable $476 ($96) ($380)
     Taxes receivable-delinquent $0 ($55,352) $0
      Less: allownace for uncollectible accounts $0 $19,373 $0
     Increase (decrease) in accounts payable $0 $0 $0
     Increase (decrease) in advances from developers $0 $0 $0
     Increase (decrease) in deferred tax revenue $0 $35,979 $0
     Increase (decrease) in due to general fund ($155,762) $155,762 $0


Total adjustments ($155,286) $155,666 ($380)


Net cash provided by operating activities $197,617 ($96) $28,320


Cash flows from investing activities:
     Interest on investment activities $37,516 $18,838 $15,780
     Net increase(decrease)  in fair value of investments $0 $4,053 $2,758


Net cash provided by investing activities $37,516 $22,891 $18,538


Net increase (decrease) in pooled cash 
and cash equivalents $235,133 $22,795 $46,857


Pooled cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year $69,653 $46,857 $0


Pooled cash and cash equivalents at end of year $304,786 $69,653 $46,857


$0 $0 $0  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







Exhibit A 
Downtown Connection TIF District  FY 2008 Annual Report 


 
 20  
  


City of Dallas, Texas


Downtown Connection Tax Increment Financing District Fund


Reinvestment Zone Number Eleven


As of September 30, 2008


Chapter 311.016 of V.C.T.A. requires the following information 


as part of the annual report on the status of the TIF District.


Information is contained in detail on the attached 


financial statements.


1. Amount and source of revenue in the tax increment fund established for the zone:


$37,516 Interest Income


$725,834 Other revenue


$0 Ad Valorem Taxes (Collected in FY'20007-08 based on 2007 Certified Tax Roll)


$763,350 Total Revenue


2. Amount and purpose of expenditures from the fund:


$145,586 Administrative Expense


$0 Non-Capital Outlay


$227,345 Capital outlay* 


$0 Interest and fiscal charges


$372,931          Total Expenditures


* These costs were incurred for the enhanced fencing for downtown parking lots  in the TIF district.


3. Amount of Principal and Interest due-on outstanding indebtedness:


None. The Downtonw Connwction TIF District has incurred no bonded indebtedness.


4. Tax increment base and current captured appraised value retained by the zone:


Taxable Base Year Est. Captured


Taxing Jurisdiction Value 2008 2005 Value Value 2008**


City of Dallas $1,541,454,353 $561,696,137 $979,758,216


Dallas County $1,541,454,353 $561,696,137 $979,758,216


Dallas Independent School District $0 $0 $0


Dallas County Hospital District $0 $0 $0


Dallas County Community College Dist. $0 $0 $0


** Based on preliminary Taxable Values. Final values will be determined on February 01, 2009.


5. Captured appraised value by the municipality and other taxing units, the total amount of the tax 


increment received, and any additional information necessary to demonstrate compliance with the


tax increment financing plan adopted by the governing body of the municipality:


A.  Estimated tax increment shared by the municipality and other participating taxing jurisdictions:


Amount of


Assessment Estimated 2008


Taxing Jurisdiction Per $100 Increment


City of Dallas 0.67311 $6,594,851


Dallas County 0.12546 $1,229,156


Dallas Independent School District 0.00000 $0


Dallas County Hospital District 0.00000 $0


Dallas County Community College District 0.00000 $0


Total for all Jurisdictions $0.79857 $7,824,006


B.  Estimated amount of tax increment to be billed for the 2008 tax year is shown above. For the 2007 tax year,


increment in the amount of $3,396,536 was collected and transferred to Downtown Dallas Development 


Authority(DDDA) in accordance with the terms of the DDDA bond indentures.  
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City of Dallas, Texas 


Downtown Connection Tax Increment Financing District 
Notes to Financial Statements for the Year Ended September 30, 2008 


 
1. The measurement focus used for the TIF Zone fund is a flow of financial resources.  The financial statements are


prepared using the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, tax
increment revenues and interest are recognized as revenue when they become both "measurable" and "available"
to finance expenditures of the current period.  Expenditures are recognized when the liability is incurred.  For
purposes of the "Statement of Cash Flow," the operating loss represents tax increment revenues less tota
expenditures. 


 
2. State statute requires that each taxing jurisdiction remit its ad valorem taxes to the Zone by May 1 of each year


(remittance to occur no more than 90 days after taxes for the jurisdiction become delinquent). 
 
3. The Zone's cash balances are invested in the City's investment pool and earn pro rata interest.  The City invests in


U.S. Treasury and Agency securities with maturities which are less than five years and money market mutual    funds
rated Aaa or AAAm.  The weighted average maturity of the portfolio is less than 365 days. 


 
4. The Zone's Financial Plan permits expenditures not to exceed $3,940,386 over the life of the TIF to reimburse the


City for administrative costs. The Zone incurred $145,586 in administrative costs for fiscal year 2008.  Any future
remittance for administrative expenses would come from excess cash as tax increment revenue increases as a result
of increased assessed values. 


   
5. All project costs resulting in capital improvements which are owned by the City are capitalized in the General Fixed


Assets Account Group of the City of Dallas.  
 


6. Capital assets activity for the year ended September 30, 2008 is as follows: 
 
     Balance at  Transfers  Balance  
           beginning   and  at end  
     of year         Additions       retirements   of year  
 


Capital assets, not being  
 depreciated: 


     Land                $0                    $0                      $0                           $0 
     Construction in progress                 0           227,345                        0                  227,345 
 
    Total capital assets, not 
          being depreciated             $0          $227,345                      $0                $227,345 
 


 Capital assets being  
             depreciated: 
       Improvements                        $0                     $0                 $0              $0                     
 
 Less accumulated  
     depreciation:                            0                        0                      0                             0 
    Total capital assets being 
      depreciated                    $0                     $0                      $0                           $0                   


    Governmental capital 
 Assets, net              $0           $227,345                       $0                $227,345     
 
7. All project costs resulting in capital improvements which are owned by the City are capitalized in the City’s fixed


assets. 
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THOMAS C. LEPPERT
MAYOR


September 11, 2009


The Honorable Ray LaHood
Secretary of Transportation
United States Department of Transportation
1200 New Jersey Avenue, SE
Washington, D.C. 20590


Re: TIGER Discretionary Grant Application - Regional Trinity Transit Connectors


Dear Secretary LaHood:


I am pleased to support the North Central Texas Council of Governments efforts to secure funding through the
Transportation Investment Generating Economic Recovery (TIGER) Discretionary Grant for Regional Trinity
Transit Connectors in Dallas and Fort Worth.


This project will provide expanded transit opportunities in the urban cores of both cities, promoting sustainable
growth and redevelopment. The proposed transportation improvements will improve air quality, transportation
linkages, pedestrian access and safety, while decreasing both traffic congestion, air pollution, and will create
opportunities for pedestrian-oriented or mixed use development in Dallas’ Oak Cliff neighborhood and Fort
Worth’s CBD Employment Center.


On behalf of the City of Dallas, I respectfully request and thank you in advance for considering the application
to the 2009 ARRA TIGER Call for Projects.


Tom Leppert
Mayor


OFFICE OF THE MAYOR CTTY HALL 1500 MARLLA ST. 5EN DALLASTEXAS 75201 TELEPHONE 214670—4054 FAX 214-870-0646
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TIGER II DISCRETIONARY PROGRAM 
Project Application 
 
 
 
Name of Project:  Downtown Dallas – Oak Cliff Streetcar Project 
 
Agency Submitting Project:  North Central Texas Council of Governments and City of 
Dallas 
 
Other Project Parties:  Dallas Area Rapid Transit 
 
Primary Contact:   


Name:  Michael Morris 
Phone Number:  817-695-9241 
Email Address:  mmorris@nctcog.org 
Street Address:  616 Six Flags Drive 
  Arlington, TX 76005 


 
Type of Project:  Transit/Other 
 
Project Location:   


City:  Dallas 
County:  Dallas County 
State:  Texas 
Congressional Districts:  Eddie Bernice Johnson (District 30) 
  Joe Barton (District 6), 
  Kenny Marchant (District 24), 
  Pete Sessions (District 32) 
 
Type of Jurisdiction:  Urban Area 


 
TIGER II Funds Requested:  $25,000,000 
 
Total Project Cost:  $60,000,000 
 
DUNS Number:  10-246-2256 
 
Application ID:  dalstrcar-0760 
 
Application ID:  aspnetsqlmembershipprovider:dalstrcar-0760 
  



mailto:mmorris@nctcog.org
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I. Project Description 
 
In order to implement the Livability Principles of the US DOT, HUD and EPA, the Dallas-
Fort Worth Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) and the City of Dallas propose 
integrating housing, employment and rail transit through the linkage of downtown with 
surrounding urban neighborhoods.  Anchoring the initial phase of this regional strategy, 
Union Station in Downtown Dallas is a passenger rail hub connecting the Trinity Railway 
Express (TRE), the Dallas Area Rapid Transit (DART) light rail system, and AMTRAK.  
This TIGER II Discretionary Grant is sought to fund the construction of Phase II of a 
streetcar system in Dallas to link walkable, mixed use neighborhoods in Oak Cliff with 
employment centers in Downtown Dallas and throughout the region. 
 
Targeted Transportation Challenges 
 
This project will improve transportation to and within the downtown core of Dallas by 
creating a seamless transit connection from the regional scale to the neighborhood 
scale.  The implementation of the streetcar line in Dallas will provide a multi-modal link 
between jobs and residents.  The project specifically targets commuters in mixed use 
districts adjacent to the downtown area.  Ridership for the project is estimated at 5,636 
riders per day.  This project fulfills a significant urban need by linking both suburban and 
urban neighborhoods to employment, entertainment, and other economic opportunities 
along the TRE, Dallas light rail system, and the proposed streetcar system in Dallas. 
 
Currently, North Oak Cliff is not serviced by the DART Light Rail System.  The proposed 
streetcar would provide this critical linkage from North Oak Cliff into the Dallas CBD.  
North Oak Cliff is one of the most promising urban infill neighborhoods in Dallas.  It is 
expected that up to 15,000 new units will be developed in this neighborhood in the next 
10 to 15 years.  Efforts by the City of Dallas to re-vision the historic Houston Street 
Viaduct as a multi-modal link began after uncovering the original 1912 bridge plans, 
which show that the bridge was constructed with the intent to develop the viaduct with 
two streetcar rail lines. Almost 100 years later, the Oak Cliff line will fulfill that original 
intent. 
 
Exhibit 1 shows how the project fits into the regional transportation system.  Exhibit 2 
shows how the streetcar would interface with the urban environment including 
connectivity with existing and planned transit services. 
 
Planned Operations 
 
The full streetcar line will originate in Downtown Dallas at Harwood and Main Street, 
continuing down Main Street to Houston Street through the largest job center in the 
North Texas area.  The alignment has a stop at Union Station in Downtown Dallas, 
which provides access to DART’s Red/Blue light rail lines and Fort Worth via the TRE.  
The line then turns south, following Houston Street over the Trinity River into Oak Cliff,  
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Exhibit 1: Project Location 


 
 
 


Exhibit 2: Downtown Dallas – Oak Cliff Streetcar Project Area 
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where it follows Greenbriar Lane to Beckley Road, and to Zang Boulevard before 
turning back to downtown.  The alignment would include stops at the Dallas Convention 
Center and Hotel, Trinity River Park (which will be the largest urban park in the United 
States), Methodist Medical Center (the largest employer in Dallas' Southern Sector), the 
Oak Cliff Gateway area, and multiple residential areas.  Exhibit 3 details proposed 
operational characteristics of the streetcar system. 
 


Exhibit 3: Operating Characteristics 


Characteristic Information 


Length 5.7 track miles (double-tracked) 


Headways 10-15 minutes 


Stop Spacing Every 2-4 blocks 


Number of Vehicles 6 


Vehicle Characteristics 130-person capacity, modern, low-floor 


 
The initial 1.5-mile Phase I segment, funded through a TIGER I grant, will be a starter 
line for both Downtown Dallas and North Oak Cliff, connecting the two areas across the 
Trinity River into Union Station (Downtown), along with needed start up facilities 
(maintenance facility, etc.).  Construction of the 1.35-mile Phase II segment would be 
funded through a combination of local funds and the requested TIGER II Discretionary 
Grant. 
 
II. Project Parties 
 
a. North Central Texas Council of Governments (Submitting Agency) 
The North Central Texas Council of Governments (NCTCOG) is a voluntary association 
of cities, counties, school districts, and special districts which was established in 
January 1966 to assist local governments in planning for common needs, cooperating 
for mutual benefit, and coordinating for sound regional development. 
 
It serves a 16-county metropolitan region centered around the two urban centers of 
Dallas and Fort Worth.  Currently the Council has 233 members, including 16 counties, 
165 cities, 23 independent school districts, and 29 special districts.  The area of the 
region is approximately 12,800 square miles, which is larger than nine states, and the 
population of the region is over 6.4 million, which is larger than 35 states. 
 
NCTCOG's structure is relatively simple; each member government appoints a voting 
representative from the governing body.  These voting representatives make up the 
General Assembly which annually elects a 15-member Executive Board.  The Executive 
Board is supported by policy development, technical advisory, and study committees, as 
well as a professional staff of 235. 
 
Since 1974 NCTCOG has served as the MPO for transportation for the Dallas-Fort 
Worth area.  NCTCOG's Department of Transportation is responsible for the regional 
planning process for all modes of transportation.  The department provides technical 
support and staff assistance to the Regional Transportation Council (RTC) and its 
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technical committees, which compose the MPO policy-making structure.  In addition, the 
department provides technical assistance to the local governments of North Central 
Texas in planning, coordinating, and implementing transportation decisions. 
 
b. City of Dallas (Partnering Entity) 
The City of Dallas is the ninth largest city in the nation with a total population of 
1,299,543 according to the U.S. Census Bureau.  Dallas is the largest city in the Dallas-
Fort Worth metropolitan area, accounting for one third of the economic output, one half 
of the office space and one third of the industrial space in the region.  The Dallas area is 
home to 46 Fortune 1000 companies and Dallas itself is home to 113 headquarters 
operations that each employ more than 1,000 globally.  Dallas is forecast to continue 
adding jobs and residents in the coming decades. 
 
City Council adopted Dallas’ first comprehensive plan, forwardDallas!, in 2006.  It 
provides a vision of a former suburban sunbelt boom town transformed into a thriving 
21st century metropolis – a city that offers a balance of urban and suburban living and 
working opportunities. The vision calls for: 


 An enhanced economy through balanced land use and strategic public 
investments 


 Quality housing made more attainable 


 Strong and healthy neighborhoods 


 Enhanced transportation systems 


 Environmental sustainability 


 New development patterns 
 
Dallas is channeling this growth into new developments and redevelopment sites in and 
around downtown, at transit stations and in Greenfield sites near the UNT Dallas 
campus and the inland port.  The transit system is growing, with 43 rail stations 
complete or under construction.  Area colleges and universities enroll 275,000 students 
and Dallas has the largest arts district in the U.S. 
 
c. Dallas Area Rapid Transit (Other Project Party) 
DART – a regional transit agency authorized pursuant to Chapter 452 of the Texas 
Transportation Code – was created by voters and funded with a one-cent local sales tax 
on August 13, 1983.  The service area consists of 13 member cities: Addison, 
Carrollton, Cockrell Hill, Dallas, Farmers Branch, Garland, Glenn Heights, Highland 
Park, Irving, Plano, Richardson, Rowlett and University Park. 
 
DART is governed by a 15-member board appointed by member-city councils based on 
population.  Eight members are appointed by the City of Dallas and seven are 
appointed by the remaining cities.  Board members serve two-year terms with no limits.  
Board officers are elected from the board membership and serve one-year terms. 
 
Revenue from the voter-approved one-cent sales tax, federal funds, investment income, 
short- and long-term financing, and farebox revenue fund the operation and ongoing 
development of DART’s multimodal Transit System Plan.   
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Currently, DART serves Dallas and 12 surrounding cities with approximately 130 bus 
routes, 48 miles of light rail transit (DART Rail), 84 freeway miles of high occupancy 
vehicle (HOV) lanes, and paratransit service for the mobility impaired.  DART and the 
Fort Worth Transportation Authority (the T) jointly operate 35 miles of commuter rail 
transit (the TRE), linking downtown Dallas and Fort Worth with stops in the mid-cities 
and DFW International Airport. 
 
III. Grant Funds and Sources/Uses of Project Funds 
 
The Downtown Dallas – Oak Cliff Streetcar project received an award of $23 million 
from the TIGER I funding opportunity, which will construct the initial 1.5-mile Phase I of 
the streetcar plan.  This TIGER II funding request of $25 million, combined with the local 
match, will construct an additional 1.35-mile Phase II of the streetcar plan.  A total of 
$12 million in local funds will be used as the local match for this project – $4.4 million to 
fund planning, preliminary engineering, and environmental clearance, and $7.6 million 
to fund final engineering and construction.  These local match funds are from the Dallas 
County allotment of a Regional Toll Revenue account created through an upfront 
payment by the North Texas Tollway Authority to the Texas Department of 
Transportation for the construction, operation, and maintenance of State Highway 121 
in Collin, Dallas, and Denton Counties.  Exhibit 4 provides a breakdown of costs and 
funding sources for the project. 
 


Exhibit 4: Total Project Costs, Available Funding, and TIGER Request 


Cost Category Amount Funding Source Percent 
Funding 
Amount 


Planning and preliminary 
engineering 


$3,840,000  Local Funding 100% $3,840,000 


Environmental review $600,000  Local Funding 100% $600,000 


Final engineering, geotech, 
survey, project management, 
inspection, public 
involvement 


$8,200,000 TIGER I Grant 32% $2,640,000 


Local Funding 68% $5,560,000 


Utility relocation $1,080,000  TIGER I Grant 100% $1,080,000 


Construction/vehicles $46,280,000  Local Funding 4% $2,000,000 


TIGER I Grant 42% $19,280,000 


TIGER II Request 54% $25,000,000 


TOTAL $60,000,000  Local Funding 20% $12,000,000 


TIGER I Grant 38% $23,000,000 


TIGER II Request 42% $25,000,000 
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IV. Selection Criteria 
 
This section contains information about how the project aligns with each of the primary 
and secondary selection criteria and a description of the results of the benefit-cost 
analysis. 
 
a. Long-Term Outcomes 
 
i. State of Good Repair 
 
The streetcar will provide an alternative transportation option for residents, employees, 
and visitors of downtown Dallas and the Oak Cliff neighborhood.  The utilization of the 
streetcar by these patrons will reduce the vehicle miles traveled by automobiles in these 
areas.  The projected reduction in vehicle miles traveled (VMT), estimated at 2,818/day, 
combined with the expectation of a reduced level of bus service on the streetcar 
alignment prolong the lifecycle of the roadways in these areas.  Quantifiable data is not 
available, but an E.D. Hovee study conducted for the City of Portland indicates that a 
high density streetcar neighborhood can reduce VMT by 55 percent (21.8 miles to 9.8 
miles) when compared to a typical suburban neighborhood.  The E.D. Hovee study is 
included in the supplementary material as HoveeStudy_DDOC.pdf. 
 
ii. Economic Competitiveness 
 
The Dallas-Fort Worth region is the 12th largest metropolitan economy in the world and 
the fourth largest metropolitan area in the United States.  Between 1990 and 2000, this 
region ranked third in population growth, adding over one million people in that time.  
Estimates show that the Dallas-Fort Worth region is still growing by at least 100,000 
people per year.  Given these statistics, it is clear that the Dallas-Fort Worth region has 
a significant impact on both the United States and world economy. 
 
This high growth rate has a distinct impact on traffic congestion and air quality within the 
region.  Through the RTC, local elected officials have created and implemented a 
multimodal transportation plan based on principles of reducing congestion, improving air 
quality, and encouraging more sustainable development patterns.  Implementing 
roadway projects is only one portion of a multimodal plan.  Transit projects, such as the 
existing passenger and light rail systems, combined with the creation and extension of 
streetcar systems are imperative to providing alternative transportation options and 
more sustainable lifestyles. 
 
Significant changes in travel mode choices and implementation of projects such as the 
streetcar system are necessary to sustain a competitive economy in the fourth largest 
(and growing) metropolitan area in the United States. 
 
The Downtown Dallas – Oak Cliff Streetcar project is centrally located in downtown 
Dallas and connects to major employment centers and residential locations.  The City of 
Dallas is spearheading major redevelopment efforts centered on the Trinity River which 
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runs near/through the downtown area.  The City of Dallas is rezoning the Davis Street 
Corridor in preparation for multi-modal transit, mixed-use development.  Moreover, 
efforts to revitalize the Historic Main Street and Jefferson Boulevard are underway to 
connect the retail/entertainment Bishop Arts District.  As part of this effort, new 
development codes that promote mixed use, transit oriented development have been 
established and will continue to be expanded. 
 
The emerging, multi-phased, Dallas Streetcar system will provide a network of 
intersecting streetcar lines that serve the Central Business District (CBD) and 
surrounding mixed-use neighborhoods.  The lines will provide the bulk of the downtown 
core transit service, including service to the Farmers Market area, historic Deep Ellum 
cultural and residential district, high-density residential Arts District, the West End 
Historic District, Fair Park, West Dallas, North Oak Cliff, The Cedars, Uptown, Victory, 
and the Dallas Design District. 
 
The existing McKinney Avenue Trolley Authority (MATA) line, operating in the Uptown 
area of Dallas, is currently served by a fleet of vintage and historic streetcars.  The 
expansion of the system will utilize modern technology to provide the best and most 
efficient transportation options to Dallas commuters.  This network has the potential to 
serve over 20,000 new workforce housing units in and around the CBD. 
 
The Downtown Dallas – Oak Cliff Streetcar project represents the start of the Downtown 
Dallas 360 Streetcar System.  The project runs along the Oak Cliff/Main Street 
alignment, which includes Downtown Dallas' Union Station (with access to DART's 
Red/Blue light rail lines, and the TRE commuter rail to Irving, Arlington, Hurst, and Fort 
Worth), the Downtown Main Street retail and entertainment corridor, Dallas Convention 
Center and Hotel, Trinity River Park (the largest urban park space in the United States), 
Methodist Medical Center (the largest employer in Dallas' Southern Sector), and 
multiple residential areas with the potential of 7,000 to 10,000 new workforce housing 
units.   
 
The City of Dallas has devoted considerable resources toward the redevelopment of the 
CBD.  Over the last five years, 4,000 housing units have been added and 8,000 
additional units are anticipated to be constructed within the next ten years.  The 
streetcar system will give many commuters an alternative option to personal vehicles for 
making local downtown trips and provide greater access to the DART light rail.  This 
along with enhanced pedestrian and bicycle facilities will make a considerable impact 
on making the central city a more pedestrian-friendly community.   
 
The City of Dallas has invested incredible resources toward the development of the 
community impacted by this project.  The area is defined as the Oak Cliff Gateway Tax 
Increment Financing (hereinafter “the District”).  The mission of the District is the 
promotion of the redevelopment, growth, and stabilization of the area.  The 
accompanying goals are: 1) growth of the value of the area’s tax base through the 
promotion of residential and retail development and a positive reversal of urban decay 
through the placement of critical infrastructure improvement, 2) implementation of the 
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pertinent recommendations of the Urban Land Institute (ULI) Study on the tracts of land 
composing the north and northwestern portions of the District, and 3) establishment of 
direct linkages with the Trinity River Corridor and the capitalization of that effort toward 
growth and increased tax base value on the District. 
 
Housing unit numbers were derived from a variety of sources.  The primary source for 
current housing numbers for Downtown Dallas is the InTown Housing Report, created 
by Downtown Dallas, Inc.  Supplemental measures, as well as projections, were then 
pulled from the annual reports and plans for the Downtown Connection TIF district.  
Housing units for the Oak Cliff portion of the route were derived using a baseline current 
year estimate from SRC DemographicsNow for three block groups adjacent to the line 
(20.001, 20.002 and 20.003) for 2008, with projections estimated using the Oak Cliff 
Gateway TIF plan.  Projections are for the year 2020.  These documents are included in 
the supplementary material as TIFAnnualReports_DDOC.pdf. 
 
Currently, there are approximately 6,170 housing units along the proposed streetcar 
corridor.  This number is projected to nearly double by 2020 to 12,443 units, with growth 
primarily continuing downtown due to the rapid conversion of obsolete office space to 
residential use in the Main Street core and the construction of new units in the Arts 
District in Downtown, the West End, and the Farmers Market area, Deep Ellum, the 
Cedars, the Bishop Arts District, and the River District of North Oak Cliff.  The streetcar 
project is an integral part of this economic expansion initiative in a historically low 
income, minority community. 
 
Special Generators of Economic Activity 
 
The strategic location of the project is in the proximity of airports such as Dallas-Fort 
Worth International Airport, Dallas Love Field Airport, the Dallas Central Business 
District Vertiport, and a number of transit stations and rail lines operated by Dallas Area 
Rapid Transit (DART) and Trinity Railway Express (TRE). 
 
Demographics of Project Area 
 
The project area is defined as a two- and/or five-mile radius around each of the 
streetcar/bridge alignments.  The NCTCOG 2030 Demographic Forecast estimates an 
increase in population of 19 percent, an increase in households by 22 percent, and an 
increase in jobs of 15 percent within a five-mile radius of the project between 2010 and 
2030.  Exhibit 5 shows the forecasted demographics for both the two-mile and five-mile 
areas. 
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Exhibit 5: Demographics of Project Area 


Area Demographic 


Year 


2010 2015 2030 


Two-mile radius Population 52,442 63,390 86,451 


Households 24,313 29,371 41,602 


Jobs 236,139 244,448 287,066 


Five-mile radius Population 384,816 407,525 456,624 


Households 148,394 157,239 181,271 


Jobs 502,789 517,422 576,314 
Source: NCTCOG 2030 Demographic Forecast, April 2003 


 
Economically Disadvantaged Area 
 
The area within a two-mile radius of the Downtown Dallas – Oak Cliff Streetcar project 
is an economically distressed area as defined under 42 U.S.C. 3161.  According to the 
2000 Census, the median income in the two-mile radius of the project area was $36,398 
compared to the national average of $41,994.  Eighteen of the 58 census block groups 
within the two-mile radius have a median household income below $22,050, the 2010 
poverty threshold set by the US Department of Health and Human Services.  The 
poverty rate within five-mile radius of the project area was 24.1 percent compared to the 
regional average at 17.1 percent.  Exhibit 6 shows the median income geographically 
within both two-mile and five-mile radii of the project area.  As can be seen in the map, 
census block groups with below average median incomes are centered on the project 
area.  As can be seen in Exhibit 7, the poverty rate near the project area is higher than 
the regional average as well. 
 


Exhibit 6: Median Income Near Project Area 
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Exhibit 7: Poverty Rate Near Project Area 


 
 
The metropolitan transportation plan for the Dallas-Fort Worth area addresses 
environmental justice communities through a comprehensive and inclusive approach.  
This process and analysis are explained at http://www.nctcog.org/trans/mtp/2030/ej.asp.  
Exhibit 8 shows that a significant portion of environmental justice communities live 
within the two-mile and five-mile radii of the project area.  As previously indicated, the 
focus of economic redevelopment efforts in downtown Dallas is to improve economic 
conditions for these populations by bringing more affordable housing and more 
employment opportunities into the communities. 
 


Exhibit 8: Environmental Justice Communities Near Project Area 
 


  



http://www.nctcog.org/trans/mtp/2030/ej.asp
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The Downtown Dallas – Oak Cliff Streetcar project will significantly increase the 
potential for new investment, expansion, and private sector production in Dallas and 
Fort Worth. According to NCTCOG’s 2030 Forecast, the number of jobs in the five-mile 
radius of the project area in 2000 was 545,148. The number of jobs was projected to 
increase to 608,845 in 2015 and to 676,645 by 2030 (an overall increase of 24 percent) 
in this project area.  In 2030, the five-mile project area is projected to have a population 
of 467,117 persons.  Given these demographics, it is readily apparent that this project 
will serve to increase population, employment opportunities, and income potential in the 
surrounding areas.  The project will promote infill development and increase population 
and employment densities in and around the CBD. 
 
iii. Livability 
 
In the regional context, livability will be enhanced because the Downtown Dallas – Oak 
Cliff Streetcar investment will be a first critical step to link all the major activity centers in 
the region along major regional transit corridors and through urban villages.  In other 
words, this Downtown Dallas – Oak Cliff Streetcar initiative will link the existing 
investment in regional rail along with local urbanism into a context, in which people can 
choose to access the transit system without relying on automobile travel and park-and-
ride facilities.   
 
The Downtown Dallas – Oak Cliff Streetcar initiative is not just about creating ad-hoc 
transit oriented development at one location or simply moving commuters from park-
and-ride to park-and-ride; rather, it is about creating an entire transit network that links 
urban villages so that a person can live in one place and move around the region to 
another area conveniently by choosing to walk, cycle, and/or ride transit.  As this system 
expands, it will make transit available to hundreds of thousands of “choice riders” so 
that transit becomes a way of life for anyone that chooses to live a more urban day-to-
day lifestyle. 
 
The impacted communities, covered in detail in the previous sections, would benefit by 
the regional nature of this project.  The Downtown Dallas – Oak Cliff Streetcar project 
will provide more connectivity to existing passenger rail lines, allowing residents, 
employees, and employers in the project area to live, work, and play within any part of 
the project area (and even along transit corridors outside the project area) without 
having to own or operate a single occupant vehicle. 
 
In Dallas the streetcar network will connect urban villages, along with major medical, 
cultural, and historic districts.  Implementation of the streetcar will encourage greater 
travel and accessibility between these zones.  In addition, the growing downtown (and 
downtown adjacent) residential populations will become less dependent upon 
automobile travel if streetcars are available as an alternative.  The streetcar system will 
allow people to literally live, work, and play, without driving a car in a metropolitan area 
that developed around the automobile.  Exhibits 9 and 10 demonstrate the large 
numbers of major employers (defined as having 250 or more employees) and the large 
population densities in and around the project area.   
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Exhibit 9: Major Employers Near Project Area 


 
 
 


Exhibit 10: Population Density In and Near Project Area 
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This project, located at a transportation hub in downtown Dallas, is an integral 
component of the transportation network in Mobility 2030: The Metropolitan 
Transportation Plan for the Dallas-Fort Worth Area, 2009 Amendment (Mobility 2030 – 
2009 Amendment).  It improves transportation connectivity to existing roadway, transit, 
and airport facilities. 
 
In 2001, the local elected officials of the RTC adopted a series of plans, programs, 
policies, and projects designed to encourage mixed use, infill, and transit oriented 
development.  The transit connections provide a centerpiece on which to build a better 
land use/transportation interface that encourages development that will ultimately 
reduce vehicle miles of travel.  Moreover, providing better land use/transportation 
connections will reduce the dependence of special populations (i.e., economically 
disadvantaged, non-drivers, senior citizens, persons with disabilities) on automobile 
travel.  The type of development (dense, close to transit, walkable, ADA accessible) 
spurred by policies, programs, and projects, such as the streetcar project, will provide 
alternative travel options and reduce the isolation of these populations. 
 
The public health effects of this project are immense.  Walkable communities promote 
better overall health.  Instead of having to drive to the convenience store, dry cleaners, 
salon, coffee shop, and even work, individuals living or working close to these areas can 
walk a short distance, jump on the streetcar, or bike to their destination.  If their 
destinations are not adjacent, they can take the streetcar to the passenger rail system, 
including the network of light rail lines.  The populations living and working in and 
beyond the project area will benefit from increased exercise and improved interactions 
with one another (more personal than vehicular interactions). 
 
iv. Sustainability 
 
Metropolitan regions such as Dallas-Fort Worth are critical to the wealth of the nation 
and are necessary for resolution of energy, climate change, and ozone objectives.  
Finding solutions to metropolitan area transportation congestion and reliability problems 
are critical to addressing the energy and air quality issues they create.  NCTCOG and 
other MPOs across the country are also excellent organizations to implement 
environmental initiatives in transportation because of their experience executing 
projects in environmentally sensitive ways.  Ridership was used as a performance 
measure to estimate VMT reduced, Carbon Dioxide (CO2) emissions, and the global 
CO2 benefit.  Exhibit 11 shows the projected ridership on the proposed line. 
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Exhibit 11: Daily Ridership Projections (Year 2030) 


Rider Type 
Estimated 


Capture Rates 
Estimated 


Streetcar Counts 
Estimated  


Streetcar Ridership 


Resident 15.5% - 16.1% 13,236 2,051 


Employees 4.0% - 4.4% 122,479 4,899 


Tourism 47.8% - 51.1% 8,200 3,919 


Students  3.8% 10,600 403 


Total Average Daily Ridership 11,272 


Discounted Average Daily Ridership* 5,636 
*Ridership discounted 50% due to future competing light rail line 


 
The following assumptions were used to quantify the benefits of the project shown in 
Exhibit 12. 
 


 Vehicle Miles of Travel (VMT) reduction:  0.5 miles of VMT reduction per rider 
was used to estimate VMT reduction from the Downtown Dallas – Oak Cliff 
Streetcar project. 


 CO2 Emission:  407 grams/mile, CO2 Emission Factor (EF) from MOBILE6.2 year 
2030 model run is utilized to estimate the CO2 emission. 


 Project Life:  30 years is used as project life for all Mass transit projects.  


 Global CO2 Emission Benefits:  $33/metric tons of CO2 emission was used to 
estimate the Global CO2 Emission Benefits. 


 
Exhibit 12: Benefits of Project 


Performance Parameters 
Daily 


Benefit 
Annual 
Benefit 


Lifecycle 
Benefit 


Vehicle Miles of Travel Reduction (miles) 2,818 704,500 21,135,000 


CO2 Emission (Tons) 1.26 315 9,450 


Global CO2 Cost Benefit (Dollars) $37.84 $9,460 $283,800 


 
Anticipated environmental outcomes include reduced vehicle miles of travel, creation of 
workforce housing in both cities (and in economically disadvantaged areas), enhanced 
real estate values, enhanced recreational and tourist opportunities, and cleaner air from 
less vehicle miles of travel.  By reducing vehicle miles of travel by 2,818 daily, the 
potential fuel savings are 88 gallons per day.  The reduced VMT is estimated at over 21 
million miles over the lifetime of the project.  In addition, air pollution emissions of 
carbon dioxide (CO2) are reduced by 1.26 tons per day and 9,450 tons over the lifetime 
of the project.  CO2 is the leading greenhouse gas emission.  Using the assumptions 
provided in the TIGER II guidance, the global CO2 benefit is $37.84/day or $283,800 
over the lifetime of the streetcar project. 
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v. Safety 
 
Data gathered from 2003 through 2008 indicates that no hazardous material spills 
occurred in the project limits.  Crash data specific to this project area is also limited.  
However according to “Safe Travels, Evaluating Mobility Management Traffic Safety 
Impacts” published by the Victoria Transport Policy Institute, mobility management 
strategies that encourage transit ridership and increase average transit vehicle 
occupancy impose little incremental external risk and reduce crash rates per passenger-
mile.  Additionally travel demand management strategies that reduce total personal 
travel can provide large safety benefits.  Each one percent reduction in motor vehicle 
travel typically reduces total crashes and casualties by 1.4 to 1.8 percent. 
 
b. Job Creation and Economic Stimulus 
 
The two-mile and five-mile radii of the project area contains 2,000 acres and 12,970 
acres of vacant land, respectively.  Though all of this land is not developable, the 
availability of large quantities of vacant land and the projections for households and 
populations shown in the 2030 Demographic Forecast provide an ample of opportunity 
and demand for new development of residential and employment centers in the area. 
The availability of transportation options, such as the streetcar, will significantly increase 
the development potential of the area and attract new businesses to the area. 
 
In order to provide jobs and economic opportunities to the influx of people expected in 
the region by 2030, the region’s goal is to attract new sustainable development to the 
region, not shuffle existing economic development within the region.  By creating better 
transportation connections within existing infill areas, more development will be 
attracted from outside. 
 
The total amount of funds to be expended on construction and construction-related 
activities is $60 million.  During each of the two years when the project is under 
construction there will be an annual benefit to the economy of $45 million and 489 jobs 
(the net annual benefit is $15 million and 163 jobs).  Exhibit 13 shows the short term 
benefits of the project due to construction related activities.  The net benefits of the 
project add from $3.5 million to $5.3 million and from 38 to 58 jobs annually to the 
economy once complete.  Exhibit 14 shows the long term benefits of the project.  All 
dollar amounts are given in 2010 dollars.  The following equations were used to 
calculate these measures: 
 
Equation 1: Wt = Bt - Ct 


 
Equation 2: J = Wt/Y 
 
Equation 3: Bt = (CO2 × Z) + (Gt × MG) + (PassM × MT) + (PassT × VT) 
 
Equation 4: Ct = PV × (1+r)t × r 


 (1+r)t – 1    
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Exhibit 13: Construction Related Net Benefits 


Category Value 


Planning and Environmental Cost $4,440,000 


Engineering and Construction Cost $55,560,000 


Total Amount $60,000,000 


Annual Cost (Ct) $30,000,000 


Short Term Effects (Design and Construction) 


Spending Multiplier (MG) 1.50 


$/Jobs (Y) $92,000 


Benefit of Government Spending (Gt) $45,000,000 


Short Term Total Annual Benefit (Bt) $45,000,000 


Short Term Total Annual Jobs (J) 489 


Short Term Net Annual Effect (Wt) $15,000,000 


Short Term Net Annual Jobs (J) 163 


 
Exhibit 14: Long Term Net Benefits 


Category 


Discount Rate 


7% 3% 


Planning and Environmental Cost $4,440,000 $4,440,000 


Engineering and Construction Cost $55,560,000 $55,560,000 


Total Cost $60,000,000 $60,000,000 


Annualized Planning and Environmental Cost $357,804 $226,526 


Annualized Engineering and Construction Cost $4,477,380 $2,834,630 


Operations and Maintenance (Gt) $2,000,000 $2,000,000 


Annualized Total Cost (Ct) $6,835,184 $5,061,156 


Long Term Effects 


Spending Multiplier (MG) 1.50 1.50 


Value of Each Passenger (VT) $5.00 $5.00 


Value of Each Passenger Mile (MT) $0.43 $0.43 


Value of Reduced Pollution (per ton) (Z) $33.00 $33.00 


$/Jobs (Y) $92,000 $92,000 


Annual Passengers (PassT) 5,636 5,636 


Annual Passenger Miles (PassM) 2,818 2,818 


Pollution Reduced (tons) (CO2) 1.26 1.26 


Benefit of Government Spending $3,000,000 $3,000,000 


Benefit of Pollution Reduced $10,395 $10,395 


Benefit of Total Pass $7,045,000 $7,045,000 


Benefit of Pass Miles $302,935 $302,935 


Long Term Total Benefit (Bt) $10,358,330 $10,358,330 


Long Term Net Effect (Wt) $3,523,146 $5,297,174 


Jobs (J) 38 58 
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Exhibit 15 provides the long term cost/benefit analysis based on the project cost and 
projected environmental and economic benefits. 
 


Exhibit 15: Cost/Benefit Analysis 


Benefits Unit 
Daily 


Benefit 
Annual 
Benefit 


Annualized 
Cost/Benefit 
Outcome1,2 


Vehicle Hours of Travel Saved Hours 73 19,070 $265/Hour 


Reduced Vehicle Miles of Travel Miles 2,818 732,680 $6.91/Mile 


CO2 Emissions Reduced Tons 1.26 327.6 $15,400/Ton 


Fuel Saved  Gallons 88 22,824 $221/Gallon 


Long-Term Net Jobs Created  Jobs --- 58 $87,300/Job 


Net Jobs Created by Construction Jobs --- 163 $184,000/Job 
1.  Based on a discount rate of 3% over 30 years, costs shown in 2010 dollars 
2.  Calculated by dividing the annualized project cost by the annual benefit 


 
During construction, businesses indirectly associated with the construction will benefit 
due to the increased demand created by construction workers.  These businesses 
spread across a variety of industries and include (but are not limited to): construction, 
engineering, carpentry, electrical, utility, manufacturing, transportation, administration, 
logistics, sales, retail, restaurants, tourism, maintenance, education, and government.  
After construction, jobs will be created to operate and maintain the streetcars and in the 
mixed-use commercial corridor as it grows and matures. 
 
Based on NCTCOG’s major employer data, there are over 100 major employers in the 
two-mile radius of the project area that employ over 250 employees.  These major 
employers in two-mile radius employ about 81,000 employees. 
 
According to NCTCOG’s 2030 Forecast, the number of jobs in the five-mile radius of the 
project area in 2010 was 591,598.  The number is projected to increase to 608,845 by 
2015 and 676,645 by 2030 in the five-mile radius of the project area, which represents a 
14 percent increase.  These employers and businesses will benefit significantly by this 
project.  Even if only 10 percent of the job growth expected in this area (73,525 jobs 
added by 2030) is spurred by this project, the result would be an additional 7,350 jobs 
created by the project in the long-term. 
 
The development of a streetcar system will create a domino effect for construction and 
manufacturing industries.  As the demand for the materials needed to build the streetcar 
system increases, so will the demand for those jobs needed to support the material 
demand.  This effect will continue through (and beyond) all phases of the project.  After 
the project has been completed, development and redevelopment along the streetcar 
pathways will continue, increasing construction demands into the foreseeable future.  
Recent studies in Portland have indicated that development within one block of a 
streetcar route is constructed on average at 90 percent of the allowed density.  This 
high density development requires construction techniques and supplies not typically 
needed in low density suburban development.    
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New construction and manufacturing jobs would be created throughout each phase of 
the infrastructure project, beginning with design and engineering work in 2010 and 
followed by construction jobs in 2011.  After the project has been completed, additional 
jobs will be created as redevelopment activity along the streetcar routes increase.  
Pedestrian-friendly, mixed-use development remains a priority of the cities, particularly 
along the proposed streetcar routes.  As office and retail components come online, new 
jobs associated with these establishments will need to be filled. 
 
With regard to the creation of jobs for low-income workers, due to the nature of this 
project and the increased pedestrian traffic at street-level retail shops, a variety of 
seasonal, part-time, and service jobs will be created to accommodate the increased 
need.  Best practice hiring techniques will be used and apprenticeship programs will 
increase options for low-income workers. 
 
Through the following efforts, opportunities will be provided to small, disadvantaged, 
veteran-owned, service-disabled businesses.  The City of Dallas Business Development 
Services office provides a number of services including, but not limited to, business plan 
assistance, financing options, market research, minority- and women-owned business 
certification, access to a computer lab, procurement assistance, and access to capital.  
Local economic development organizations also provide assistance to small, 
disadvantaged, veteran-owned, or service-disabled businesses. 
 
Dallas has a number of community-based organizations that help connect 
disadvantaged workers with new opportunities.  For example, Goodwill Industries 
International, Inc., is one of North America’s leading non-profit providers of education, 
training, and career services for people with disadvantages (i.e., low income and 
disabilities).  Additional organizations include (but are not limited to) Veterans Services, 
United Way, and Workforce Solutions.  Many of these organizations receive regional 
funding support through the Job Access/Reverse Commute and New Freedom 
programs (federal funds selected by the MPO).   
 
“Economically distressed” as defined by the Governor of Texas’ Office is, “an area that 
has a median household income that does not exceed 75 percent of the median state 
household income.”  The median household income for the state of Texas is $46,248.  
The streetcar would improve access to and stimulate economic development in Dallas 
neighborhoods that have a large percentage of residents meeting the definition of 
economically distressed.  It is anticipated that the streetcar corridors will become high-
density, mixed-income, mixed-use, walkable, urban neighborhoods with economically 
distressed residents benefiting greatly from the improved transit access and access to 
other neighborhood amenities. 
 
Many areas within a two-mile radius of the Downtown Dallas – Oak Cliff Streetcar 
project in Dallas are economically distressed areas.  According to the 2000 Census, the 
median income in the two-mile radius of the project area was $36,398, compared to the 
national average at $41,994. The poverty rate within five-mile radius of the project area 
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was 24.1 percent compared to the regional average at 17.1 percent. Please refer to the 
Exhibits 6 and 7 for geographic identification of these populations. 
 
c. Innovation 
 
This project is being funded by the City of Dallas, NCTCOG, and existing state and 
federal sources, in coordination with local transit authorities, but only in part by those 
organizations.  TIF districts and MMDs are intimately involved in the process, making 
traditional federal and state entities “minority partners” in the financial arrangement.   
 
With regard to technology, the MPO has funded multiple projects to provide real-time 
information to passengers and transit operators to ensure smooth transitions between 
different modes (i.e., bus to rail, light rail to regional rail).  The same principles would 
apply to this project upon implementation.   
 
This project would also be incorporated into other existing regional and innovative 
programs including the Employer Trip Reduction Program, which is designed to plan 
and implement trip reduction and transportation demand management strategies such 
as subsidized transit pass, walking, bicycling, ridesharing, alternative work schedule, 
telecommuting, parking management, and other transportation incentive programs.   
 
The regional Try Parking It (www.tryparkingit.com) website is a commuter tracking 
application in which riders of the streetcar system would participate on a voluntary 
basis.  There are 111 large employers located within the limits of this project area.  Of 
these employers, 41 are registered on the Try Parking It website with a total of 371 
employees participating in a variety of trip reduction activities.  
 
d. Partnership 
 
i. Jurisdictional and Stakeholder Collaboration 
 
This joint application by the City of Dallas and NCTCOG has broad support from 
workforce housing advocates, transit authorities, and economic development 
organizations such as the Oak Cliff Chamber of Commerce. 
 
From the beginning, the city, TIF districts, chambers of commerce, MPO, and transit 
authorities have been involved in the planning activities for this streetcar system.  In 
addition, these partners have agreed to varying levels of financial commitment to 
capital, operating, and maintenance costs.  Outside of traditional local and regional 
funding, financial support would be provided via the Oak Cliff Gateway TIF. 
  



http://www.tryparkingit.com/
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ii. Disciplinary Integration 
 
Beyond traditional transportation agencies, other agencies involved in the project 
planning and development of this project include: 


 Oak Cliff Gateway TIF District 


 Oak Cliff Chamber of Commerce 


 DOWNTOWNDALLAS 
 
It is hoped that this project can lead the way in breaking down planning, funding, and 
implementation barriers between different organizations with different, but coordinating 
missions.  By removing silos between transportation (roadway and transit), 
environmental, housing, and other such governmental and non-profit organizations, 
more comprehensive and effective projects can be implemented. 
 
e. Performance Monitoring 
 
It is expected that a streetcar system and associated development will bring substantial 
economic benefit to Dallas.  These benefits can be demonstrated by monitoring 
increases in tax revenue, increases in residential and commercial development 
densities, and appreciation of land values along the corridors.  Dallas tracks this 
information already, and these tracking efforts would continue if TIGER II funding is 
received.  In addition, the transit agencies track ridership providing a regular report on 
actual ridership numbers.  These efforts would also continue.  Finally, NCTCOG 
produces an annual State of the Region report, which provides a performance based 
assessment of regional planning, policy, and project implementation.  A copy of the 
latest State of the Region report is available online at 
http://www.nctcog.org/trans/outreach/stateofregion/index.asp.  
 
V. Project Readiness and NEPA 
 
a. Project Schedule 
 


Exhibit 16: Schedule by Phase 


Phase Estimated Start Date Estimated Completion Date 


Environmental Review August 2010 May 2011 


Preliminary Design August 2010 May 2011 


Vehicle Procurement September 2010 July 2013 


Final Design June 2011 February 2013 


Construction July 2012 November 2013 


 
b. NEPA Status 
 
Status of NEPA Process:  In process 
Anticipated Completion Date:  May 2011 
 



http://www.nctcog.org/trans/outreach/